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GLOSSARY

Abbreviation/Expression Definition

NEGC Nama Electricity Generation

RAEC Rural Area Electricity Company SAOC

MIS Main Interconnected System 

NHC Electricity Holding Company SAOC (Nama Holding 
Company)

APSR Authority for Public Services Regulation

OPWP Oman Power and Water Procurement

OETC Oman Electricity Transmission Company

MEDC Muscat Electricity Distribution Company

MJEC Majan Electricity Company

MZEC Mazoon Electricity Company

PDO Petroleum Development of Oman

Omanisation 
The policy for the employment of Omani nationals 
as issued from time to time by the government of 
Oman

RO Omani Rial

DG Diesel Generation 

PPA Power Purchase Agreement 

PI Potential Incidents 
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ABOUT THE COMPANY
Nama Electricity Generation Company (NEGC) or the Rural Areas Electricity Company SAOC (RAEC) 
was established in accordance with Sector Law 78 / 2004 to provide services to remote areas. it is a 
fully owned subsidiary of Nama Holding Company SAOC (NHC), which in turn is wholly owned by the 
Oman Investment Authority (OIA). NEGC holds a generation license issued by the Authority for Public 
Services Regulation (APSR) to operate in the Governorates of Musandam, Al Wusta, Al Dhahirah, and 
Dhofar. In June 2023, following article 89 of the electricity and water sector’s regulation and privatization 
law, enacted by royal decree no. 78/2004, a restructuring was mandated to divide the sector into three 
focused entities for supply, distribution, and generation. Despite this restructuring, NEGC continues to 
deliver essential generation services across all designated regions.

Vision
To be one of Oman’s reliable energy 
suppliers by optimizing power production in 
alignment with Oman's 2040 vision

Enabling development of the 
service areas by generating 
sustainable electricity in a 
safe, reliable and efficient 

manner

Mission
Respect, Integrity & 

Professionalism

Values
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NEGC REGULATION AND LICENSES
SECTOR LAW & APSR REGULATION

The graph represents a structure within the electricity sector, showing how it is organized under sector law and 
regulation. The structure is broken down into five distinct stages:

Laws and regulations govern each step to ensure safe, reliable, and compliant operation within the sector.

Licensed
Generation:

 Entities are authorized to produce 
electricity.

Power
Procurement:

Electricity is purchased from 
generators to meet demand.

Power
Transmission: 

High-voltage lines transport 
electricity over long distances.

Distribution:

Electricity is converted to lower 
voltages for consumer use.

Supply: 

Electricity is sold and delivered 
to end-users.

RAEC OPWP OETC NESCNEDC 
&NDS

Licenced 
Generation

Power 
Procurement

Power 
Transmission Distribution Supply

LICENSED ACTIVITIES 

1.	 To generate electricity in the Sultanate of Oman and to finance, develop own and/or operate and 
maintain Production Facilities in order to do so; 

2.	 To carry out any other function assigned to it by Sector Law 
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Legand:
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Area Supplied by PDO

Existing Power Plant

Concession Areas

COVERAGE AREA 
Since 2005, Nama Electricity Generation 
Company (NEGC), also known as the Rural Areas 
Electricity Company (REAC) and formerly referred 
to as Tanweer, has made significant progress 
in expanding electricity access across Oman. 
The company has successfully electrified the 
Governorates of Musandam, Dhofar, and Al Wusta, 
along with parts of Ad Dakhliyah, Al Dhahirah, and 
Ash Sharqiyah. At its peak, NEGC covered nearly 
73% of Oman’s land area. By 2010, NEGC was 
operating 51 diesel power plants, demonstrating 
its commitment to enhancing energy infrastructure 
and promoting sustainable development in the 
region.

In 2021, the Authority for Public Services 
Regulation (APSR) issued new directives to 
interconnect several NEGC networks with the 
Oman Electricity Transmission Company (OETC) 
and other distribution companies. 

As a result, in 2022, NEGC optimized its operations to cover 50% of Oman’s land area, down from 73%. By 
2024, the number of power plants had decreased from 51 to 20 due to decommissioning and connecting 
power plants to the Main Interconnected System (MIS), enhancing overall efficiency and sustainability.

The significant reduction in reliance on diesel plants has led to a 20.73% decrease in installed capacity 
by 2024, representing a significant milestone. This positive change is primarily attributed to the 
decommissioning of several power plants, including Ayoon, Dhahboon, Barbazoom, and others.

Equally important has been NEGC’s commitment to innovative strategies, such as integrating power from 
Petroleum Development Oman (PDO) facilities to effectively serve Nama customers in remote areas. The 
company’s ongoing efforts to phase out various power plants emphasize alignment with national plans 
and internal restructuring. 
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GROUP SECTOR MERGE

Group Sector Merge 

In June 2022, a strategic direction from the Authority declared the sector group companies are 
to restructure and merge, establishing a new Distribution, Supply, and Generation company.

The companies to merge are Muscat Electricity Distribution Company (MEDC), Majan Electricity 
Company (MJEC), Mazoon Electricity Company (MZEC), and Rural Areas Electricity Company 
(RAECO). While the merger streamlined the Distribution and Supply functions, RAECO has 
retained its independence in electricity generation. In June 2023, RAECO officially transitioned 
to the Nama Electricity Generation Company (NEGC), continuing to provide essential 
generation services across the Governorates of Musandam, Dhofar, and Al Wusta, including Al 
Dakhliyah, Al Dahirah, and Sharqiyah.

INTERLINKING PLAN

The NEGC interlinking plan presents a roadmap of projects spanning 2026 - 2028. It aims to optimise 
the generation network by phasing out power stations and reducing reliance on smaller, less efficient 
facilities.

The plan elaborates on the years for decommissioning outdated plants and connecting them to the Main 
Interconnected System (MIS). Phasing out these power stations would reduce the need for personnel, 
site maintenance, and equipment costs. Additionally, leveraging advanced technology is expected to 
generate cost savings, enhance supply chain management for fuel and materials, and optimise logistics.

2026

Mittan (Q2 2026)
Sharbatat (Q2 2026)
Kholouf (Q2 2026)

Fershat Qatbeet (Q2 2026)
Hasik (Q3 2026)

Mudhai  (Q4 2026)
Shahab Asaib (Q4 2026)
Al Mazyounah (Q4 2026)

Masirah (Q4 2026)
Khuwaima (Q4 2026)

Najdah (Q4 2026)

Al Khadra (Q2 2027)
Hitam (Q2 2027)
Sarab (Q2 2027)

Harweeb (Q2 2024)
Andat (Q2 2024)

Al-Dhafrat (Q2 2024)

Masrouq (Q2 2028)
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BOARD AND EXECUTIVE 
MANAGEMENT VISITS TO POWER 
STATIONS

During the year, members of the Board of Directors and Executive Management carried out 
field visits to various power stations across the Sultanate, as part of their ongoing efforts to 
remain closely connected with operational activities on the ground. These visits focused on 
reviewing station performance, addressing operational challenges, and following up on the 
progress of decommissioning plans and integration with the national grid. They also offered 
an opportunity to engage with site teams, acknowledge their efforts, and gather insights to 
support continuous improvement.

Board & Executive team visiting site operations – Dhofar

Team discussion in control room – DuqmSafety briefing session – site visit, Dhofar
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CHAIRPERSON REPORT 

Dear Shareholders,

Said Al Maktumi 
Chairman of the Board of Directors

I am pleased to present our Board Annual Report 
for NEGC (Rural Areas Electricity Company) for the 
financial year ending on 31st December 2024. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
The Company is primarily undertaking electricity 
generation activities in the rural areas of Musandam 
Governorate, Alwusta Governorate, Masirah Island, 
Khuweima and Qroon areas in Sharqiya governorate, 
Aswad area in Dahirah governorate, Thumrait, 
Shaleem, Almzyounah in Dhofar governorate and 
some areas in Dakhliya governorates under a license 
to operate issued by the Authority for Public Service 
Regulations of Oman.
 

HEALTH, SAFETY & ENVIRONMENT
Continuous improvement in HSE performance has 
been a core pillar of NEGC’s business strategy and 
this focus has delivered an outstanding performance 
in 2024, thanks to a positive corporate culture and 
the concerted efforts of management, staff, and out-
sourced service providers. Most significantly, NEGC 
staff and strategic partners achieved more than 2 
million man-hours between January and December 
2024, without any Lost Time Injury (LTI) or fatal incident 
as well as with full compliance to environmental 
regulations.

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS 
•	 Total power generated from NEGC power 

plants in 2024 decreased by 14.3% from 
665.68 GWh in 2023 to 570.52 GWh in 2024 
due to the closing of some power stations in 
Dhofar and Al-Wusta governorates as part of 
the planned interlinking program.

•	 The power purchased dropped by around 
66.7% from 363,827 to 121,052 MWh due to 
the interlinking of Duqum power station with 
the main interconnection system and the 
shifting of the power supply to the main grid.

•	 The power generated from Dhofar wind farm 
in 2024 increased to 133,700 MWh compared 
to 123,200 MWh representing an increase of 
around 8.5%.

•	 The company continues to improve and 
develop its compliance with the regulations 
and license conditions, with continued 
cooperation with the Authority for Public 
Services Regulation (APSR), the Electricity 
Holding Company (Nama Holding), and other 
relevant stakeholders within the company.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
Building on the notable high level of corporate 
performance in 2024, NEGC continues to align 
its strategic direction with national plans aimed at 
reducing dependence on fossil fuels for electricity 
generation and transitioning towards renewable 
energy sources. The financial performance of 
NEGC in 2024 showed a decrease in revenue from 
89.648 million Omani Rials in 2023 to 73.620 million 
Omani Rials in 2024. Additionally, expenditure 
decreased by 19% from 86.211 million RO in 2023, 
compared to 69.879 million RO in 2024, largely due 
to lower fuel costs associated with fuel consumption 
and reduction in power purchases.
 

STRATEGIC 
DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 
FOR POWER STATIONS
As part of the company’s strategic vision, NEGC 
is actively pursuing a decommissioning strategy, 
which involves shutting down several of its power 
stations. This strategic decision highlights our 
commitment in reducing the use of fossil fuel and 
signifies a critical transformation in our approach to 
energy generation. Through the decommissioning 
of these facilities, NEGC has significantly cut down 

on the emission of pollutants such as CO2 and 
reduced both ambient and stack temperatures, 
along with noise pollution. NEGC has successfully 
auctioned around 16 of its old power stations in 
2024.

NEGC is also venturing into sustainable energy, 
adopting renewable energy technologies for 
projects in Al Mazyounah and Fatkhit in Dhofar 
governorate, focusing on solar and wind power 
respectively. The wind farm project features 13 
wind turbines (each with a capacity of 3.8 MW using 
GE Technology) and integrates into Dhofar’s main 
network system, marking a significant step towards 
green energy transition. The 2024 production from 
the wind farm increased by 8.5% as compared to 
2023.

REGULATION & COMPLIANCE 
The Company strives to improve and reinforce 
compliance with the Regulators and license 
conditions, in cooperation with the Authority 
of Public Service Regulation and the Electricity 
Holding Company (Nama Holding). NEGC has 
received APSR approval to the Power Purchase 
Agreement (PPA) which contains NEGC allowances 
for the year 2024. NEGC has also defined and 
updated the PPA allowances and determined the 
2025 generation capital projects. 

Moreover, NEGC has successfully completed all 
the actions and requirement set in the APSR 116 
Article Notice in the 2023 Musandam electricity 
blackout incident; accordingly, the notice has 
been rescinded by the Authority. In terms of the 
compliance, NEGC has also reviewed and complied 
with all the policies and guidelines published by 
the Oman Investment Authority OIA.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
On behalf of the NEGC Company and the Board 
of Directors, I extend our deepest gratitude 
and appreciation to His Majesty Sultan Haitham 
bin Tarik for his wise leadership in guiding the 
Sultanate toward development and prosperity. I 
would also like to take this opportunity to thank 
our Shareholders, APSR, and customers for 
their appreciated support and to the executive 
management and all employees and staff for their 
dedication and relentless efforts to achieve the 
Company’s goals and strategic objectives.
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CEO MESSAGE

Ahmed Al Harthi 
Chief Executive Officer 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
NEGC’s strategic vision is built on four core pillars: 
Health, Safety, and Environment (HSE), Security of 
Supply, Asset Management, and Cost Efficiency. These 
pillars have been central to our transition strategy 
since 2022 as we work toward the phase-out of several 
of our power plants and interconnecting them with 
the Main Interconnected System (MIS) and the Rabt 
project. The year 2024 marked the third year of this 
transformation plan, during which solid progress was 
achieved across all functions. . 

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE
NEGC operates 21 diesel-fueled power plants across 
various regions in the Sultanate of Oman, with capacities 
ranging from 2 MW to 80 MW. The net electricity 
dispatched in 2024 was 570,523 MWh. This represents 
a decrease of 14.3% in total electricity generation 
and reflects the progress of NEGC’s ongoing efforts 
to streamline the electricity infrastructure across 
governorates through the interlinking plan. 

Dhofar Wind Farm witnessed an increase in total 
output of 8.33%, reaching 133.7 GWh in 2024, showing 
our continuous operational efficiency.

In line with its sustainability objectives, NEGC was able 
to repurpose diesel generators from decommissioned 
sites into mobile generation units. In return, it 
contributed to eliminating reliance on rental generators 
and acted as a backup plan during emergencies such 
as power shortages, natural disasters, and blackouts 
in rural areas. The company was able to decommission 
nine power plants across rural Oman, including Ayoon, 
Dhahboon, Barbazoom, Fatkeet, Mahwees, Jashool/
Mothorah, Matafha, Tusnat, old Saih Al-Khairat, and 
old Khasab. While decommissioning another eleven 
power stations are well underway. This reflects our 
ongoing efforts to achieve our strategic direction 
of interlinking and decommissioning initiatives. All 
works, including material disposal, transportation, 
demolition, and site levelling, were completed safely 
and efficiently.

 

98%
Omanisation in 2024

58
Training Programmes 

More than

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
NEGC recorded a total revenue of 73.620 million 
Omani Rials while successfully decreasing 
expenditures to 69.879 million OR in 2024, 
compared to 86.211 million Omani Rials in the 
previous year. The reduction in expenditure is 
mainly associated with less fuel consumption and 
a reduction in power purchases. Trade and other 
payables were reduced by 24.1 million compared 
to 2023. Furthermore, short-term borrowing was 
reduced by 29 million Omani Rials in 2024 due to 
the net repayment during the year.

HUMAN RESOURCES 
PERFORMANCE
Throughout the year, the company made 
significant progress in workforce development and 
Omanisation. NEGC achieved 98% Omanisation in 
2024, with Omani staff representing all primary 
functions, including engineering, operations, and 
leadership roles. Over 58 training programmes 
were delivered to strengthen employee 
capabilities and prepare the workforce for long-
term demands..

HEALTH, SAFETY, 
AND ENVIRONMENT 
PERFORMANCE 
HSE performance remained strong and aligned 
with the Company’s objectives in 2024. NEGC 
achieved over 2 million safe man-hours with 
zero Lost-Time Injuries (LTI) and no fatalities, 
reflecting our commitment to health, safety, and 
environmental (HSE) standards. This achievement 
was made possible through the dedication of our 
teams, who proactively implemented continuous 
safety assessments, ensured strict compliance with 
operational procedures, and conducted regular 
audits. In addition, the company strengthened 
contractor management processes and evaluation 
mechanisms, even while executing complex 
decommissioning projects in rural areas.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
In closing, I would like to express my gratitude 
to His Majesty Sultan Haitham bin Tariq for his 
wise leadership and clear vision. I also extend my 
thanks to our Board of Directors for their valuable 
guidance, the Authority for Public Services 
Regulation (APSR) for their continued support, to 
our shareholders for their ongoing trust, and to 
every member of our team whose dedication and 
perseverance drives our success. Looking ahead, 
we remain committed to executing our long-term 
strategy. Our focus for the years ahead includes 
completing the Decommissioning Strategy and 
contributing to a more centralized and reliable 
electricity network.
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GOVERNANCE REPORT 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PHILOSOPHY
The Company’s corporate governance philosophy is firmly rooted in fostering a culture of performance 
excellence and adherence to applicable laws and regulations, specifically tailored for its role in the power 
generation sector. This approach is essential for succeeding in the highly competitive and technical 
field of electricity generation in a manner that is responsible, sustainable, and value-creating for all 
stakeholders. The Board of Directors of the Rural Areas Electricity Company SAOC (RAEC) is dedicated to 
upholding the highest standards of corporate governance within the generation domain. The Company’s 
governance policies and procedures are meticulously crafted to prioritize its responsibilities towards 
stakeholders, with a particular emphasis on optimizing generation efficiency and ensuring long-term 
value for shareholders.

The Company acknowledges the significance of all its stakeholders, including shareholders, employees, 
customers, suppliers, and the communities where it generates power. This acknowledgment guides the 
governance practices and processes established by the Board. RAEC’s corporate governance framework 
within the generation segment is driven by a commitment to the highest standards of business integrity, 
ethical values, and professional conduct in all its operational activities. This dedication is directed towards 
consistently delivering the best value to its customers and achieving excellence in the generation sector 
year after year.

ROLE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND ITS COMMITTEES:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors retains a set of specific powers and authorities that are fundamental to the 
effective governance and strategic direction of the Company. These reserved powers encompass several 
key areas. In terms of strategic direction and oversight, the Board provides high-level guidance in shaping 
the Company’s strategic plans, ensuring they align with its long-term operational and financial objectives. 
With regard to corporate governance, the Board is responsible for monitoring and evaluating governance 
systems to ensure compliance with relevant legal, regulatory, and internal standards. The Board also plays 
a critical role in risk management and internal controls, overseeing the Company’s control framework and 
risk mitigation processes to uphold operational integrity and sustainability.

In matters of major transactions and capital allocation, the Board approves significant acquisitions, 
disposals, joint ventures, and capital expenditures that could materially impact the Company’s financial 
health or strategic positioning. Furthermore, the Board oversees human resources and leadership 
succession, regularly reviewing HR policies and focusing on succession planning for senior executives and 
top management to ensure continuity in leadership. Lastly, under its financial oversight responsibilities, 
the Board approves the balance sheet, annual financial statements, and strategic business plans, ensuring 
the Company’s financial practices support its broader strategic objectives..

SUB COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD
The Board is responsible for the establishment and functioning of all Sub Committees, and the appointment 
of members to these committees and their compensation. The Board has delegated responsibilities to 
two Board sub-committees namely Audit & Risk Committee and Board Executive Committee.

AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE (ARC)
In accordance with the Code of Corporate Governance for Closed Joint Stock Companies, the Audit 
Committee holds a critical role in safeguarding the integrity of the Company’s financial reporting and 
internal control environment. Among its key responsibilities is the nomination and assessment of the 
external auditor, where the Committee evaluates proposed candidates by reviewing their fees, terms of 
engagement, and the potential impact of any non-audit services on their independence and objectivity. 
Based on this evaluation, the Committee makes informed recommendations to the Board of Directors for 
submission to the Annual General Meeting (AGM) for formal appointment.

In terms of audit planning and review, the Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving the 
external auditor’s audit plan to ensure it sufficiently addresses key risk areas. It also assesses the results 
of the audit process, ensuring that auditors are granted full and unrestricted access to all necessary 
information and documentation.

Furthermore, the Committee is tasked with upholding financial integrity and fraud oversight by investigating 
any instances of fraud, misstatements, or financial irregularities. It ensures the implementation and 
enforcement of robust internal controls and sound accounting practices that fairly and accurately reflect 
the Company’s financial position in compliance with applicable accounting standards and regulatory 
requirements.

BOARD EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (BEC)
The Board Executive Committee (BEC) serves as a pivotal governance body within RAEC, offering 
strategic leadership and oversight across key areas of the organization. One of its core responsibilities lies 
in strategy and oversight, where the Committee reviews and approves RAEC’s strategic plans, ensuring 
that these align with the company’s long-term goals. It also monitors the implementation and progress of 
strategic initiatives to ensure their effectiveness and alignment with overall corporate objectives.

In the area of policy oversight and governance, the BEC plays a central role in shaping the company’s 
policy framework. It develops, reviews, and recommends policies and procedures for Board approval, 
ensuring consistency with Nama Holding’s strategic direction and full compliance with applicable legal 
and regulatory standards. The Committee also ensures the consistent application of approved policies, 
recommends amendments when necessary, and evaluates requests for policy exemptions. Additionally, 
it undertakes any other responsibilities assigned by the Board.

With respect to human resources strategy and oversight, the BEC is responsible for reviewing and 
recommending updates to RAEC’s N-1 organizational structure to support operational efficiency. It 
also oversees the development and implementation of succession planning for key executive positions, 
ensuring continuity in leadership and the long-term stability of the organization.

MAJOR TENDER COMMITTEE (MJTC)
The Major Tender Committee (MJTC) was established by the Board in line with the OIA’s Procurement and 
Tendring Policy and in line with Procurement Guidelines issued by Nama Holding. it is a key body within 
the company’s procurement framework, responsible for overseeing significant procurement processes to 
ensure transparency, efficiency, and compliance with internal policies. The committee includes executive 
management representatives as well as two members of the Board of Directors, reflecting the strategic 
importance and oversight required for critical generation decisions.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS COMPOSITION:
Being a closed joint stock company, NEGC is subject to the provisions of the Commercial Companies 
Law No. 4/1974 (18/2019) as amended and NEGC Articles of Association. In this context, NEGC’s Board 
is composed as follows:
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EX-BOARD (JAN - MAR)

Name of the 
Board Member

Position in 
the Board

Type of 
Representation

Membership 
of other 

Committees

Membership of 
Board Members 

in other 
companies

Last 
attended 

AGM 
meeting

Ms. Suhaila 
Mohammed Al 
Farsi

Chairman Independent 1 - 17 April 2024

Mr. Saleh Rabia Al 
Salmani

Vice 
Chairman

Non-
independent, 
Non-executive 

Director

1 - 17 April 2024

Ms. Salama Khalifa
Al Hajri Member

Non-
independent, 
Non-executive 

Director

2 - 17 April 2024

NEW BOARD (APR- DEC)

Name of the 
Board Member

Position in 
the Board

Type of 
Representation

Membership 
of other 

Committees

Membership of 
Board Members 

in other 
companies

Last 
attended 

AGM 
meeting

Mr. Said 
Mohammed Salim 
Al Maktumi

Chairman Independent - - -

Mr. Hassan Ali 
Saleh Al Ajmi

Vice 
Chairman

Non-
independent, 
Non-executive 

Director

1 - -

Ms. Salama Khalifa 
Al Hajri Member

Non-
independent, 
Non-executive 

Director

2 - 17 April 2024

Mr. Ali Mohamed 
Ali Al Raiisi Member Independent 1 - -

Mr. Musallam Said 
Salim Al Maashani Member Independent 2 - -

ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT BOARD AND COMMITTEE 
MEETING IN 2024:
Table 1.A & 1.B, present the detailed schedule and remuneration for the Board of Directors’ meetings 
at Nama Electricity Generation Company for the year 2024. It is divided into two main sections: the first 
table covers the period from January to March, outlining the participation and compensation for each 
director across different committees within the board. The second table focuses on the meetings held 
from April to December, again detailing attendance and fees for each board member. This structured 
overview not only reflects the board’s active engagement throughout the year but also transparently 
shares the financial remuneration allocated for their dedicated service.

Table 01.A: 2024 Board of Director’s and Committee Meetings (Jan - Mar)

Member Names Suhaila Mohammed 
Al Farsi

Saleh Rabia Al 
Salmani

Salama Khalifa Al 
Hajri

BOD Meetings No Dates Chairman Vice Chairman Member

1 3 Jan 2024 Attend Attend Attend

2 23 Jan 2024 Attend Attend Attend

3 21 Feb 2024 Attend Attend Attend

4 5 Mar 2024 Attend Attend Attend

5 20 Mar 2024 Attend Attend Attend

6 26 Mar 2024 Attend Attend Attend

Total Number of BOD Attended 6 6 6

Sitting Fees (OMR) 4,500 4,200 3,600

AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE (ARC)

Member Names Saleh Rabia Al Salmani Salama Khalifa Al Hajri

ARC Meetings 
No Dates Chairman Member

1 3 Jan 2024 Attend Attend

2 24 Jan 2024 Attend Attend

3 20 Mar 2024 Attend Attend

Total Number of ARC Attended 3 3

Sitting Fees (OMR) 900 600

BOARD EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (BEC)

Member Names Suhaila Mohammed Al 
Farsi

Salama Khalifa Al Hajri

BEC Meetings 
No

Dates Chairman Member

1 3 Jan 2024 Attend Attend

2 15 Feb 2024 Attend Attend

3 28 Feb 2024 Attend Attend

4 5 Mar 2024 Attend Attend

5 26 Mar 2024 Attend Attend

Total Number of BEC Attended 5 5

Sitting Fees (OMR) 1500 1200
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2024 MAJOR TENDER COMMITTEE MEETINGS (JAN - MAR)

Member Names Saleh Rabia Al Salmani Salama Khalifa Al Hajri

MJTC 
Meetings No Dates Chairman Vice Chairman

1 22nd  Jan 2024 Attend Attend

2 14th  Feb 2024 Attend Attend

Total Number of MJTC Attended 2 2

Sitting Fees (OMR) 600 600
MJTC Secretary  

Table 01.B: 2024 Board of Director’s and Committee Meetings (Apr - Dec)

Member Names Said Mohammed 
Salim Al Maktumi

Hassan Ali 
Saleh Al Ajmi

Ali 
Mohamed 
Ali Al Raiisi

Musallam 
Said Salim 

Al Maashani

Salama 
Khalifa 
Al Hajri

BOD 
Meetings 
No

Dates Chairman Vice Chairman Member Member Member 

7 17 Apr 2024 Attend Attend Attend Attend Attend

8 11 Jun 2024 Attend Attend Attend Attend Attend

9 23 Jul 2024 Attend Attend Attend Attend Attend

10 5 Sep 2024 Attend Attend Attend Attend Attend

11 21 Oct 2024 Attend Attend Attend Attend Attend

12 13 Nov 2024 Attend Attend Attend Attend Attend

13 10 Dec 2024 Attend Attend Attend Attend Attend

Total Number of BOD 
Attended 7 7 7 7 7

Sitting Fees (OMR) 4,900 3,900 3,900 3,600 0

AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE (ARC)

Member Names Hassan Ali Saleh 
Al Ajmi

Musallam Said Salim 
Al Maashani

Salama Khalifa 
Al Hajri

ARC Meetings 
No Dates Member Chairman Member 

4 9 Jun 2024 Attend Attend Attend

5 23 Jul 2024 Attend Attend Attend

6 3 Sep 2024 Attend Attend Attend

7 12 Nov 2024 Attend Attend Attend

Total Number of ARC Attended 4 4 4

Sitting Fees (OMR) 3,900 3,600 0

BOARD EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (BEC)

Member Names Ali Mohamed Ali 
Al Raiisi

Musallam Said Salim 
Al Maashani

Salama Khalifa 
Al Hajri

BEC Meetings 
No Dates Chairman Member Member 

6 9 Jun 2024 Attend Attend Attend

7 15 Jul 2024 Attend Attend Attend

8 3 Sep 2024 Attend Attend Attend

9 12 Nov 2024 Regret Attend Attend

Total Number of BEC Attended 3 4 4

Sitting Fees (OMR) 900 900 0

MAJOR TENDER COMMITTEE (MJTC)

2024 Major Tender Committee Meetings (Apr - May)

Member Names Mr. Musallam Said Al Mashani Mr. Ali Mohammed A L Raiisi

MJTC Meetings 
No Dates Chairman Vice Chairman

3 07th May 2024 Attend Attend

Total Number of MJTC Attended 1 1

Sitting Fees (OMR) 300 300

2024 Major Tender Committee Meetings (June - December)

Member Names Mr. Hassan Ali Saleh Al Ajmi Mr. Ali Mohammed A L Raiisi

MJTC Meetings No Dates Chairman Vice Chairman

4 12th Jun 2024 Attend Attend

5 25th Sep 2024 Attend Attend

6 13th Nov 2024 Attend Attend

7 15th Dec 2024 Attend Attend

8 19th Dec 2024 Attend Attend

Total Number of MJTC Attended 5 5

Sitting Fees (OMR) 1500 1500

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (AGM):
Annual General Meeting (AGM) refers to the general meeting of the Company which is held annually. 
Article No. 172 of the Commercial Companies Law mandates Nama Electricity Generation Company to 
hold an AGM within 90 days from the end of each financial year. In 2024, Nama Electricity Generation 
Company held both the Ordinary General meeting and Extraordinary General meeting on 17 April 2024.

DETAILS OF NON-COMPLIANCE:
The company received 116 Regulation notice in 2024 from APSR. However, NEGC currently adheres to 
all applicable regulatory requirements ensuring full compliance with relevant authorities. The Company 
complies with the provisions of the Code of Corporate Governance outlined in OIA Public Disclosure.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS REPORT
Refer to The Annual Report and the Report of the Financial Statements, Chairman Message, Director 
Report and CEO Message providing Key information on the company’s financial performance, in addition 
to the key strategic projects and sustainability projects. The Company’s financial performance gives a 
view of the current financial standing and future projections. The reports assist investors and shareholders 
in understanding how the Management and Board implement the decision-making process, and the 
company’s core principles and financial fundamentals.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF GOVERNANCE FOR OIA 
ENTITIES
The Company was in full compliance with the Code of Governance for OIA Entities.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS
Pursuant to the Royal Decree 78/2004 (Sector Law) and its amendments, the Company maintains 
close liaison with Electricity Holding Company SAOC and Nama Shared Service LLC, on various policy 
issues. All the information relating to the Company, news and the financial results are available on the 
Company’s website. The Annual General Meeting offers a further opportunity for the directors to meet 
with shareholders. The Annual Report includes the Management Discussions and Analysis Report.

STATUTORY AUDITORS  
EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, strategy & transactions, and consulting services. EY is committed 
to doing its part in building a better working world. The insights and quality services which EY delivers 
help build trust and confidence in the capital markets and in economies the world over. 

The MENA practice of EY has been operating in the region since 1923. For over 100 years, we have 
grown to over 8,500 people united across 26 offices and 15 countries, sharing the same values and an 
unwavering commitment to quality. EY MENA forms part of EY’s EMEIA practice. Globally, EY operates in 
more than 150 countries and employs 400,000 professionals in 700 offices. Please visit ey.com for more 
information about EY. The fees of the Statutory Auditor for the year 2024 approved by the shareholder 
amounted RO. 15,489

CODE OF ETHICS AND BUSINESS CONDUCT:
The Code of Ethics and Business Conduct Policy was amended to be in line with OIA Communication 
Policy. The Code of Ethics and Business Conduct (CEBC) applies to NG companies’ Boards of Directors 
and employees, as well as all consultants, contractors, suppliers, and persons representing NG in their 
commercial operations. The revision stipulates that OIA Entities shall cover the internal and external 
communications and the social media protocols.

Principles and ethics have always been an integral part of Nama Group and a static foundation to achieve 
our vision and goals. All Nama Group achievements reflect a direct indication of our commitment to 
apply them. Based on the principle of sustaining ethical conduct, the Code of Conduct Policy has been 
developed electronically to facilitate employees’ access and review of the Policy easily and encourage 
them to continue complying and implementing the Policy.

WHISTLE BLOWING:
To ensure the performance of duties under the best corporate governance practices, a Whistle Blowing Policy 
was developed in line with the Sector’s Policy Statement on Fraud Deterrence and pursuant to the OIA Code 
of Corporate Governance. The main purposes of this Policy are to:

Support the mission and values of Nama Group;

•	 Ensure that Target Users are aware of their right to report any Misconduct;

•	 Explain the process for reporting misconduct clearly and the procedures undertaken to investigate such 
alleged misconduct;

•	 Provide a transparent, safe, and confidential space within the organization for reporting such Misconduct.

The Policy has been amended, and a digital platform system has been created with integrated case 
management. Target users can report any wrongdoing on an anonymous basis, as outlined in the policy. The 
website for the platform is:  http://wajib.integrityline.com
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NEGC STRATEGY 	
These objectives are part of a strategic plan designed to phase out and interconnect NEGC’s power 
plants with the Main Interconnected System (MIS) in an efficient manner, ensuring that NEGC is in line 
with the direction of the parent company, Nama Holding. 

Figure 01: NEGC Strategy 
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HEALTH, SAFETY, AND ENVIRONMENT (HSE) ACHIEVEMENTS 

SAFETY PERFORMANCE 
NEGC continued building a solid and sustainable HSE culture amongst staff and contractors, which 
resulted in achieving a significant record of zero accidents during 2024, reaching 2,029,525 man-hours 
worked, over a period of 580 days with zero fatality and zero LTI. This achievement marks the robust 
HSE leadership commitment of all levels towards HSE policies and procedures, striving for continual 
improvement in all related areas.

Staff and contractors reported 373 Potential Incidents (PI), which were categorised as Unsafe Conditions, 
Unsafe Acts, or Near Misses. Analysis of these reports provided early identification of latent hazards and 
trends, enabling implementation of corrective measures to prevent recurrence and minimise the risk of 
subsequent harm. 

During 2024, the HSE team also conducted fifteen (15No) site HSE inspections and followed up 
implementation of corrective actions through collaboration with Regional Managers and their respective 
contractors.

Table 02: QHSE Performance (2023-2024)

Component 2023 2024

Fatality 0 0

Lost time injury 0 0

Total Man- Hours worked 1,201,099 2,029,525.50

LTIFR (Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate) 0 0

Figure 02: QHSE Performance 2024

Fatality

0 00 0 0 373

Lost Time 
Injury

Restricted 
Work 
Case

Medical 
Treatment 

Case

First Aid 
Case

PI 
Reports

ACHIEVEMENTS STRATEGIC 
INITIATIVES
Throughout 2024 NECG continued to deliver HSE initiatives aimed at continuous improvement in Quality, 
Health and Safety and Environmental performance.

HSE strategies also included HSE planning in advance of dismantling and demolition of decommissioned 
power plants to mitigate exposure to the hazards and risks associated with these activities. 

In addition to production site operational safety the HSE team carried out fire safety training for staff at 
the company’s Misfah Warehouse facility, including an emergency mock drill.

Table 03: QHSE Initiatives

Focus Area Initiative

Operational Safety

Conducted continuous assessment and authorisation for operational 
duties to ensure compliance with electrical safety rules and 
operational procedures.
Carried out HSE compliance audit at Dhofar Wind Farm and 
implemented corrective actions to support ongoing improvement and 
PPA compliance.

Contractor Performance

Improved contract HSE evaluation and performance monitoring on 
new tenders and existing contracts. 
Updated and implemented more robust HSE Minimum Requirements 
for Contractors

Contractors QHSE Top 
Management Awareness 
Workshop 

Conducted a workshop for all contract managers to ensure awareness 
of KPIs and contractors’ minimum requirements 	

Fire Safety
Conducted fire fighting and emergency response training at Misfah 
Warehouse facility. In addition to conducting emergency drills at 
various power plants.

Decommissioning and 
Dismantling of Old Power 
Plants 

Continued efforts to ensure the safety of employees and contractors' 
safety

HUMAN RESOURCES
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HUMAN RESOURCES
NEGC’s success is driven by the distinct skills of its people, consistent performance, and a commitment 
to continuous improvement across all functions. Our deep sense of responsibility to the community and 
unwavering dedication to the nation are at the core of our values. We believe that developing talent and 
cultivating a skilled and competent Omani workforce is essential to strengthening the nation’s capabilities. 

Table 04 showcases the breakdown of Omani versus non-Omani employees for 2024, across various job 
categories, highlighting the achievement of 98% Omanisation. 

Table 04: Number of Omani & Non-Omani Staff 2024

Job Category Omani Staff No. Expatriate Staff No. Total

Managerial / Chief Officers 3 0 3

Operations and Maintenance 
Managers of Technical Departments 6 0 6

Administrative/ Supervisory 13 0 13

Head of Sections 6 0 6

Engineers/ Operations 18 1 19

Total Direct Employees 46 1 47

Figure 03: % of Omanisation in Each Function
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NEGC achieved 98% overall Omanisation rate in 2024.

Figure 04: Functional Staff Distribution
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SKILLS, QUALIFICATIONS & 
TRAINING
NEGC places a high emphasis on the continuous training and development of its employees, viewing it 
as a key priority. The company has extended training programmes as part of its developmental initiatives, 
comprising over 49 training courses, thereby equipping most of NEGC’s workforce with a broad spectrum 
of technical and business skills. As figure 05 shows, around 60% of the training courses were provided to 
enhance technical and knowledge reflecting the nature of the company operations, while around 22% of 
the courses were forward on HSE reflecting our commitment toward working under safe environments 
across our operations and business areas. 

Figure 05: % of Training Breakdown by Category 
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As shown in Figure 06, many team members already hold academic qualifications, with over half having 
bachelor’s or master’s degrees. NEGC’s continued investment in learning builds on this foundation. It 
reflects a genuine belief that people thrive when supported, encouraged, and given the space to grow.

Figure 06: Qualification Breakdown                                                     
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OPERATION PERFORMANCE 
POWER GENERATED AND SENT FROM NEGC POWER PLANTS 
The data presented in Figure 07 and Figure 09 show a decline in net power generation from NEGC power 
plants, which decreased from 665,687.69 MWh in 2023 to 570,523.41 MWh in 2024, as illustrated in Figure 
07. This decline of approximately 14.3% can be primarily attributed to the successful integration of several 
areas; including Al-Dhafrat, Adat, and Harweeb, into the Main Interconnected System (MIS). Although this 
transition has reduced output, it represents a positive development. It signifies a notable step toward 
the company’s goal of phasing out specific operations. Figure 07 shows that 42% of the total MWh was 
produced through our power stations in Al Wusta and Sharqiyah South governorates. 36% of total MWh 
was produced from our power stations in Dhofar Governorate, while Masirah power station committed a 
share of 22% of total MWh produced in 2024.

Figure 07: Actual Power Generated per Region (in MWh)
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SIGNIFICANT POWER PURCHASED 
The decrease in MWh purchased in 2024 compared to 2023 is primarily due to the transition of Duqum's 
power supply to the Main Interconnected System (MIS). The Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) with 
Marafiq has also been on standby since December 2023. This resulted in an overall decrease of 6% in 
power purchase in 2024. 

Figure 09: Percentage Power Power Purchased (in Mwh)
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OPERATIONAL DATA 
NEGC currently operates 20 diesel-fueled power plants across various regions of the Sultanate of Oman, 
including Musandam, Sharqiyah, Al-Dhahira, Al Wusta, Dhofar, as well as on Masirah and Al Halaniyat 
Island. These plants have capacities ranging from less than 1 MW to 80 MW. Operational data from these 
regions for the years 2023 and 2024 highlight trends in power generation and distribution across different 
areas.

Table 05: Operation Data For Power Plants - Dhofar 2024

Dhofar Operational Data For 2024

Plant

NEGC DGs Rental 
DG 

(KW)

The 
Month 
of Peak 

Load

Max Load 
(KW)

Total Power 
Generated 

(KWH)

Power Sent 
(KWH)Installed 

(KW)
Available 

(KW)

Sharbatat 4,728.00 3,782.00 0 May/Jun 1,350.00 8,481,475.00 8,416,990.00

Shahab 
Assaib 24,000.00 16,637.50 0.00 May 11,500.00 61,855,869.00 60,110,016.00

Al Mazyonah 9,416.67 5,233.33 15000 Sep 15,650.00 69,856,418.00 68,215,724.00

Mittan 3,400.00 2,693.33 1000 Jun 1,320.00 5,545,218.00 5,519,412.00

Harweeb 2,154.17 1,098.33 1500 Jul 1,720.00 5,877,795.00 5,864,031.00

Andat 3,130.00 1,967.00 0 Jun 1,300.00 3,548,068.00 3,512,655.00

Al Hallaniyat 1,568.00 1,250.00 0.00 May 590.00 2,586,620.00 2,524,400.00

Hasik 7,000.00 4,200.00 1500 Oct 3,150.00 17,524,916.00 17,329,536.00

Saih Al 
Khirat New 48,018.00 45,812.50 0 0 0.00 0.00 0.00

Fershat 
Qatbeet 10,000.00 8,000.00 0 Jun 2,884.00 14,973,196.00 13,083,173.00

Mudhai 5,622.00 4,080.33 1000 Jun 2,830.00 12,544,994.00 12,040,287.00

Dhofar Total Operational Data For 2024

Plants
NEGC DGs

Available 
(KW)

Rental 
DG 

(KW)

Total Power 
Generated (KWH) Power Sent (KWH)Installed 

(KW)

Dhofar PS 119,036.83 94,754.33 20000 202,794,569.00 196,616,224.00
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Table 06: Operation Data for Power Plants Al Wusta 2024

AL Wusta Operational Data For 2024

Plant

NEGC DGs
Rental 

DG (KW)

The 
Month 
of Peak 

Load

Max 
Load 
(KW)

Total Power 
Generated 

(KWH)

Power Sent 
(KWH)Installed 

(kW)
Available 

(KW)

Masirah 62,468.00 52,686.42 0 May 25,170.00 127,943,926.00 121,847,826.00

AL Hij 0.00 0.00 0.00 0 0.00 0.00 0.00

AL Duqum 74,720.00 44,100.00 0 0 0.00 0.00 0.00

AL Khuwaima 6,464.00 3,477.00 10000 Oct 9,860.00 33,997,998.00 33,680,236.00

Al-Dhafrat 3,500.00 2,800.00 0 May 1,440.00 2,666,739.00 2,639,630.00

AL Khadra 15,977.33 7,550.00 0 Jun 5,600.00 29,430,515.00 27,769,334.00

Masrooq 6,759.00 2,416.67 3,000.00 Jun 3,130.00 11,535,753.00 11,451,511.00

Khalouf 3,125.00 2,125.00 0 May 1,560.00 6,773,239.00 6,641,963.00

Nagdah 3,606.00 2,338.00 0 May 1,870.00 6,764,755.00 6,654,513.00

Sarab 4,541.67 3,454.17 0 May 2,510.00 10,465,240.00 10,326,867.00

Hitam 5,638.00 2,402.70 0 May 1,910.00 8,270,590.00 8,001,529.00

Wadi Aswad 0 0 5,000.00 Jun 3,860.00 3,573,823.00 3,573,823.00

AL Wusta Total Operational Data For 2024

Plants

NEGC 
DGs Available 

(KW)
Rental 

DG (KW)
Total Power 

Generated (KWH) Power Sent (KWH)
Installed 

(KW)

AL Wusta PS 186,799.00 123,349.95 18000 241,422,578.00 232,587,232.00

Table 07: Operation Data for Power Plants Musandam 2024

Musandam Operational Data For 2024

Plant

NEGC DGs 
Rental 

DG (KW)

The 
Month 
of Peak 

Load

Max Load 
(KW)

Total Power 
Generated 

(KWH)

Power Sent 
(KWH)Installed 

(KW)
Available 

(KW)

Khasab New 80,000.00 72,221.25 0 Mar 35,636.00 92,769,794.00 92,769,794.00

Madha 11,300.00 4,833.33 5,000.00 Jun 8,250.00 33,532,509.00 32,387,940.00

Dibba 
(Rental) 0.00 0.00 17000 0 0.00 0.00 0.00

Lima (Rental) 0.00 0.00 2000 Feb 780.00 3963.00 3,963.00

Musandam Total Operational Data For 2024

Plants
NEGC DGs

Available 
(KW)

Rental 
DG (KW)

Total Power 
Generated (KWH) Power Sent (KWH)Installed 

(KW)

Musandam 
PS 91,300.00 77,054.58 24000 126,306,266.00 125,161,697.00

DECOMMISSIONING 
The decommissioning project represents a significant milestone in NEGC’s ongoing efforts to modernize 
and streamline its power infrastructure across governorates. According to the latest progress report, 9 
out of 18 power stations have been fully decommissioned, each reaching 100% completion. All related 
activities, including material transportation, demolition, and site leveling, were successfully completed 
without any significant incidents. These achievements cover key NEGC sites, including Ayoon, Dhahboon, 
Barbazoom, Fatkeet, Mahwees, Jashool/mothorah, Matafha, Tusnat, old Saih Al-Khairat and old Khasab.

The successful completion of these stations reflects strong planning, seamless execution, and effective 
coordination across geographically dispersed areas. Decommissioning work at the remaining sites 
including Andat, Harweeb, Dibba, Kumzar, Madha, Abu Madhabi, Sowqarah, Old Masirah, and Al-Dhafrat 
are currently in progress. Notably, Madha and Andat have reached 60% and 30% completion, respectively.

This initiative not only facilitates the transition to a more centralized and sustainable energy model but 
also underscores NEGC’s commitment to resource optimization and environmental stewardship. As 
part of this effort, NEGC has undertaken the responsible disposal of obsolete and surplus assets from 
closed power stations. Far from being a routine procedural step, this reflects a broader strategic goal of 
enhancing operational efficiency while minimizing environmental impact. Through this project, NEGC 
continues to advance its vision of sustainable development and operational excellence, ensuring that 
infrastructure retirement aligns with best practices in environmental responsibility and energy sector 
modernization.

In 2024, NEGC successfully advanced its strategic roadmap through the development and implementation 
of a comprehensive Decommissioning Plan. NEGC currently operates more than 20 power generation 
stations across Oman, many in remote and isolated areas. These facilities face operational and financial 
challenges due to their dispersed nature, outdated infrastructure, and limited interconnectivity.

To address these challenges, Nama Group launched a long-term plan (2024–2029) focused on interlinking 
power stations to the Main Interconnected System (MIS) and decommissioning inefficient and aging 
plants. The decommissioning plan emphasizes sustainable asset management through the responsible 
disposal of obsolete equipment and the relocation or utilizing the usable assets. It also ensures a smooth 
transition by addressing land usufruct agreements for decommissioned sites. The plan supports Oman’s 
sustainability goals by promoting optimized, reliable, and environmentally conscious power generation 
in rural regions.

From a project side, NEGC awarded a project to repurpose diesel generator (DG) sets from the closed 
power stations of Al-Dhafrat and Andat into custom-built steel container units. This initiative supports 
emergency power supply, providing a cost-effective alternative to six rental DGs and enabling flexible 
installation and mobilization across NEGC’s sites. The project included engineering, design, supply, 
fabrication, testing, and commissioning of steel enclosures for 1 MW and 500 kW (3 × 1000 kW, 1 × 
500 kW LV) from Al-Dhafrat power plant and 2 units (2 × 500 kW) from Andat power station. These mobile 
units enhance NEGC’s emergency response capabilities during power shortages, natural disasters, or 
blackouts. This strategic reuse of assets contributes to operational resilience and sustainability while 
optimizing investments in infrastructure.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
The financial performance of NEGC in 2024 reflected a decrease in revenue to 73,620 thousand Omani 
Rials (RO), down from 89,648 thousand RO in 2023. This decline of 16 million RO was primarily due to the 
adjustment of the K-factor. Asset generation also declined, decreasing from 56,415 thousand RO in 2023 
to a lower figure in 2024, mainly because of asset disposals. Additionally, expenditures dropped to 69,879 
thousand RO in 2024, compared to 86,211 thousand RO in the previous year, reflecting a reduction of 
over 23%. This decrease was mainly attributed to lower fuel usage and reduced power purchases.

The decrease in trade and other receivables was mainly due to a reduction in amounts due from related 
parties totaling 26.9 million RO, along with a decrease in the K-factor receivable amounting to 16.3 million 
RO, again due to the K-factor adjustment. Similarly, trade and other payables declined by 24.1 million 
RO, mainly driven by a 10.9 million RO reduction in amounts due to related parties and a 10.5 million 
RO decrease in accruals and other payables. Short-term borrowings also decreased by 29 million RO, 
resulting from net repayments made during the year.

As of 31 December 2024, the Company’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by 28.3 million RO 
(compared to 32.1 million RO as of 31 December 2023), which may indicate the existence of a material 
uncertainty relating to the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. This situation underscores 
the need for additional funding and financial support to meet obligations as they fall due and to sustain 
operations in the foreseeable future.

In response to this concern, management has obtained confirmation from the Company’s shareholders, 
assuring the provision of adequate financial support to meet its liabilities and maintain ongoing operations. 
Accordingly, these financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and do not include 
any adjustments that might arise from this uncertainty.

Figure 09: Financial Performance (2023 – 2024)
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RENEWABLE 
AL MAZYUNAH SOLAR
Al Mazyunah Solar Project continues to play a meaningful role in Oman’s renewable energy journey. In 
2024, the plant maintained a consistent performance, generating 454.1 MWh of clean electricity that 
supports the local grid and contributes to the community.

Developed through a long-term Power Purchase Agreement (PPA), the project spans 8,000 square meters 
and features a 307 kWp photovoltaic system. It combines polycrystalline and thin-film technologies, using 
1,617 solar panels and 31 inverters to maximise output under varying conditions.

The plant provides reliable energy to local communities and contributes to sustainability by reducing 
carbon emissions. As Oman works toward a cleaner and more sustainable energy future, the Al Mazyunah 
Solar Project is a beacon of success, highlighting the positive impact that renewable projects can have on 
the environment and the community.  

454.1 8,000 1,617 31
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of Electricity
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Panels
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Figure 10: Total Produced Energy (in MWh)
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DHOFAR WIND FARM
Dhofar Wind Farm stands as a pioneering project in Oman’s journey towards sustainable energy. 
Established through a collaborative effort between Nama Electricity Generation and the Abu Dhabi 
Future Energy Company (Masdar), this venture represents a significant milestone in the region’s renewable 
energy landscape in line with national efforts to focus more on the use of renewable energy.

As the first wind farm of its kind in the region, the Dhofar Wind Farm spans over 1,900 hectares and is 
backed by around RO 38 million investment. The project has a capacity of 50 megawatts, with 13 wind 
turbines, each capable of producing 3.8 megawatts. This clean energy production powers 16,000 homes 
in the Dhofar Governorate and supports the development of the organizational framework for renewable 
energy in Oman.

In 2024, the Dhofar Wind Farm generated a total of 133.7 GWh of electricity, as shown in Figure 12. This 
was a significant increase compared to 2023, and the highest amount of energy produced since the 
project began operating in 2019. 

The project supports the strategic direction of Oman Vision 2040, which aims to increase the share of 
renewable energy in total energy consumption to 20 percent by 2030 and to between 35 and 39 percent 
by 2040. Although still relatively new, the Dhofar Wind Farm plays a supportive role in achieving these 
national targets and the country’s transition toward a low‑carbon energy future.

Since it began operating in 2019, the project has helped reduce over 110,000 tons of CO2 emissions in 
support to Oman’s goal to cut emissions by 2030 and it contributes to the country’s efforts to protect the 
environment.

Additionally, the project contributes to advancing Omanisation by employing a predominantly Omani 
workforce and supporting local companies. This approach enhances in‑country value and strengthens 
the project’s contribution to the national economy. .

Figure 11: Total Produced Energy (in GWh)
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Regulation (APSR), the Electricity Holding Company (Nama Holding), and other 

relevant stakeholders within the company. 

 

Financial Performance  

Building on the notable high level of corporate performance in 2024, NEGC continues to align 

its strategic direction with national plans aimed at reducing dependence on fossil fuels for 

electricity generation and transitioning towards renewable energy sources. The financial 

performance of NEGC in 2024 showed a decrease in revenue from 89.648 million Omani 

Rials in 2023 to 73.620 million Omani Rials in 2024. Additionally, expenditure decreased by 

19% from 86.211 million RO in 2023, compared to 69.879 million RO in 2024, largely due 

to lower fuel costs associated with fuel consumption and reduction in power purchases.  

Strategic Decommissioning Plan for Power Stations 

 

As part of the company’s strategic vision, NEGC is actively pursuing a decommissioning 

strategy, which involves shutting down several of its power stations. This strategic decision 

highlights our commitment in reducing the use of fossil fuel and signifies a critical 

transformation in our approach to energy generation. Through the decommissioning of these 

facilities, NEGC has significantly cut down on the emission of pollutants such as CO2 and 

reduced both ambient and stack temperatures, along with noise pollution. NEGC has 

successfully auctioned around 16 of its old power stations in 2024. 

NEGC is also venturing into sustainable energy, adopting renewable energy technologies for 

projects in Al Mazyounah and Fatkhit in Dhofar governorate, focusing on solar and wind 

power respectively. The wind farm project features 13 wind turbines (each with a capacity of 

3.8 MW using GE Technology) and integrates into Dhofar’s main network system, marking a 

significant step towards green energy transition. The 2024 production from the wind farm 

increased by 8.5% as compared to 2023. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dear Shareholders 

I am pleased to present our Board Annual Report for NEGC (Rural Areas Electricity Company) 

for the financial year ending on 31st December 2024.  

 

Principal activities 

The Company is primarily undertaking electricity generation activities in the rural areas of 

Musandam Governorate, Alwusta Governorate, Masirah Island, Khuweima and Qroon areas 

in Sharqiya governorate, Aswad area in Dahirah governorate, Thumrait, Shaleem, 

Almzyounah in Dhofar governorate and some areas in Dakhliya governorates under a license 

to operate issued by the Authority for Public Service Regulations of Oman.  

 

Health, Safety & Environment 

Continuous improvement in HSE performance has been a core pillar of NEGC’s business 

strategy and this focus has delivered an outstanding performance in 2024, thanks to a 

positive corporate culture and the concerted efforts of management, staff, and out-sourced 

service providers. Most significantly, NEGC staff and strategic partners achieved more than 2 

million man-hours between January and December 2024, without any Lost Time Injury (LTI) or 

fatal incident as well as with full compliance to environmental regulations. 

 

Operational Highlights  

• Total power generated from NEGC power plants in 2024 decreased by 14.3% from 

665.68 GWh in 2023 to 570.52 GWh in 2024 due to the closing of some power 

stations in Dhofar and Al-Wusta governorates as part of the planned interlinking 

program. 

• The power purchased dropped by around 66.7% from 363,827 to 121,052 MWh 

due to the interlinking of Duqum power station with the main interconnection system 

and the shifting of the power supply to the main grid. 

• The power generated from Dhofar wind farm in 2024 increased to 133,700 MWh 

compared to 123,200 MWh representing an increase of around 8.5%. 

• The company continues to improve and develop its compliance with the regulations and 

license conditions, with continued cooperation with the Authority for Public Services 
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Regulation & Compliance  

The Company strives to improve and reinforce compliance with the Regulators and license 

conditions, in cooperation with the Authority of Public Service Regulation and the Electricity 

Holding Company (Nama Holding). NEGC has received APSR approval to the Power Purchase 

 

Agreement (PPA) which contains NEGC allowances for the year 2024. NEGC has also defined 

and updated the PPA allowances and determined the 2025 generation capital projects. 

Moreover, NEGC has successfully completed all the actions and requirement set in the APSR 

116 Article Notice in the 2023 Musandam electricity blackout incident; accordingly, the notice 

has been rescinded by the Authority. In terms of the compliance, NEGC has also reviewed and 

complied with all the policies and guidelines published by the Oman Investment Authority OIA. 
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
Notes RO’000 RO’000

Continued Operations
Revenue 22 73,620                       89,648
Operating Costs 23                     (66,571)                     (81,083)
Gross profit 7,049 8,565

Other income 24 66 779
General and administrative expenses 25 (3,308) (5,128)
Reversal of expected credit loss 10.1 - 165
Loss on disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment (120)                              -
Operating profit                         3,687                         4,381

Finance costs 26 (2,203) (1,322)
Profit before tax                         1,484                         3,059

Income tax 27 90 (351)
Profit for the year for continuing operations                         1,574                         2,708
Loss from discontinued operations 4 - (2,544)
TOTAL PROFIT AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 1,574 164

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
RURAL AREAS ELECTRICITY COMPANY SAOC

    The attached notes from 1 to 31 form integral part of these financial statements_______________________________________________________________________________________
8
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RURAL AREAS ELECTRICITY COMPANY SAOC
STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
Notes RO’000 RO’000

Profit before tax from continuing operations 1,484 3,059
(Loss)/profit before tax from discontinued operations - (2,544)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7 7,351 9,973
Depreciation of right to use assets 16 74 80
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment (120) -
Amortization on intangible assets 8 - 25
Amortization on intangible assets 25
Provision for inventories obsolescence 9.1 71 1,448
Reversal for expected credit losses 10.1 - (165)
Accruals for employees' end of service benefits 17 - (308)
Finance costs 2,203 1,873
Dividends declared and provided (60) -

11,003 13,466
Working capital changes:
Inventories 311 2
Trade and other receivables 36,370 37,789
Trade and other payables (24,113) (14,810)
Deferred revenue 3,037 1,612

26,608 38,059
Employees' benefits paid - (123)
Income Tax paid 27.3 (1,668)

24,940 37,936

Investing activities
(852) (6,687)

Proceeds from disposal of net assets 447 -
(405) (6,687)

Repayment of term loan - -
Movement in short term borrowings 19 (29,000) (44,200)
Movement in lease liabilities 16.2 (109) (1,047)
Finance cost paid 26 (2,203) (1,873)

(31,312) (47,120)
(6,777) (15,871)

11 7,384 23,255

11 607 7,384

Net cash flows used in investing activities

Operating activities

Cash from operating activities

Net cash flows generated from operating activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities
Net changes in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

      The attached notes 1 to 31 form integral part of these financial statements.________________________________________________________________________________________
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2024

1 LEGAL STATUS AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

2

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION

a) Statement of compliance

b)  Basis of measurement

c)

d) Use of estimates and judgments

RURAL AREAS ELECTRICITY COMPANY SAOC

Rural Areas Electricity Company SAOC (the “Company”) is a closely held Omani joint stock Company registered
under the Commercial Companies Law of Oman. The establishment and operations of the Company are
governed by the provisions of the Law for the Regulation and Privatisation of the Electricity and Related Water
Sector (the Sector Law) promulgated by Royal Decree 78/2004. The registered office of the Company is in Al
Hamriya, Sultanate of Oman. The Company is primarily undertaking electricity generation, water desalination
and electricity distribution activities in the Musandam Governorate, Alwusta region, Masirah Island, Khuweima
and Qroon areas in Sharqiya region, Aswad area in Dahirah region, Dhofar Governate (the area outside Dhofar
Power Company SAOC’s authorised area) and in Dakhliya region (the area outside Mazoon Electricity
Company SAOC’s authorised area) under a license issued by the Authority for Public Utilities Regulations,
Oman. (“the regulator”).

Rural Areas Electricity Company SAOC is a 99.99% subsidiary of Electricity Holding Company SAOC (“the
Holding company”), a company registered in the Sultanate of Oman and 0.005% is held by the Nama Shared
Services LLC and 0.005% by Numo Institute of Competence Development LLC.

FUNDAMENTAL ACCOUNTING CONCEPT

As at 31 December 2024, the current liabilities of the Company exceeded its current assets by RO 28.4 million
(31 December 2023: RO 32.1 million), which may indicate the existence of a material uncertainty relating to
going concern as the Company will require additional funding and financial support to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due and continue its operations for the foreseeable future.

Management believes that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis on the
strength of continued financial support from the Holding Company including the undertaking from the
Government, under the Sector Laws, to secure the availability of the necessary finance for the Company to
undertake its activities and achieve its objectives as long as its capital is wholly owned by the Government.

The above factors will enable the Company to continue to operate as a going concern for the foreseeable future
and to discharge its liabilities to other parties, as they fall due and management has no reason to doubt such
support will continue. Accordingly, these financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis and
management concluded that a material uncertainty in respect of going concern does not exist.

Presentation and functional currency

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and the requirements of the
Commercial Companies Law of 2019, as amended.

These financial statements are prepared on historical cost basis except for certain derivative financial
instruments which are measured at fair value.

These financial statements are presented in Rial Omani ("RO"), which is the Company's functional as well as
presentation currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand (RO '000) except where
otherwise stated.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates
and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. Information about
critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements is included in impairment of property, plant and equipment, financial
valuation of derivative financial instruments and impairment of financial assets.

_______________________________________________________________________________________
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2024

RURAL AREAS ELECTRICITY COMPANY SAOC

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

e) New and amended standards and interpretations

Amendments to IFRS 16 - Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

a) What is meant by a right to defer settlement
b) That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period
c) That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right
d)

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 - Supplier Finance Arrangements -

f) Standards issued but not yet effective

Lack of exchangeability – Amendments to IAS 21

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms
of a liability not impact its classification

The amendments had no impact on the Company’s financial statements.

The Company applied for the first-time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 (unless otherwise stated). The Company has not early adopted
any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.

The amendments in IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability
arising in a sale and leaseback transaction, to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the
gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains.

Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

The amendments had no impact on the Company’s financial statements.

The amendments to IAS 1 specify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The
amendments clarify:

In addition, an entity is required to disclose when a liability arising from a loan agreement is classified as non-
current and the entity’s right to defer settlement is contingent on compliance with future covenants within twelve
months.

The amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements in
understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to
liquidity risk.
The amendments had no impact on the Company’s financial statements.

In August 2023, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates to
specify how an entity should assess whether a currency is exchangeable and how it should determine a spot
exchange rate when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments also require disclosure of information that
enables users of its financial statements to understand how the currency not being exchangeable into the other
currency affects, or is expected to affect, the entity’s financial performance, financial position and cash flows.

The amendments will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. Early
adoption is permitted, but will need to be disclosed. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot restate
comparative information.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2024

RURAL AREAS ELECTRICITY COMPANY SAOC

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

f) Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

4 RESTRUCTURING OF BUSINESS

•

•

•

•

•

•

The Oman Investment Authority (OIA), has received a letter number 1145/December 2021 dated 26 December
2021, from H.E. Mohammed Al Rumhi, Minister of Energy and Minerals and Chairman of the Authority for Public
Services Regulation, Oman relating to initiatives aimed at reducing the operational costs and increasing
efficiency in the electricity sector (the Notification). The Notification sets out, in very broad terms, plans to
reorganise the distribution and supply companies in Oman, with the exception of the Dhofar Governorate and in
this regard stipulates: “combining the distribution and supply companies into two companies (a supply company
and another distribution in all governorates of the Sultanate except for the Governorate of Dhofar) to enhance
efficiency and reduce operational and administrative costs” (DISCO Reorganisation).

The following events have occurred during the current year:
The Board of Directors of the Company have resolved in their meeting held on 27 April 2023, to start
the process of transfer of distribution assets to Nama Electricity Distribution Company (NEDC) (formerly
Mazoon Electricity Company (MZEC)) and supply assets to Nama Electricity Supply Company (NESC)
(formerly Muscat Electricity Distribution Company (MEDC)).
The shareholders of the Company in OGM dated 7 May 2023 unanimously resolved and approved the
start of restructure directives. The shareholders approved to enter into business transfer agreement, to
transfer out distribution and supply assets to NEDC and NESC respectively as per earlier APRS
directives on 26 Dec 2021.
The Shareholders of the Company, NEDC and NESC have resolved to transfer all the assets and
liabilities pertaining to the distribution and supply businesses at carrying value at the effective transfer
date of 1 June 2023.
Pursuant to the shareholders' resolution, the Company entered into Business Transfer Agreement
(BTA) with NEDC and NESC to transfer net assets pertaining to distribution and supply businesses
respectively at effective date of 1 June 2023.
As the companies are under common control of Electricity Holding Company SAOC, the above
transaction has been entered with no consideration. Accordingly, the transfer out of net assets has
been considered as distribution to the shareholders.
The shareholders in ordinary general meeting (OGM) held on 7 May 2023 also resolved to decrease the
share capital by RO 99.5 million and legal reserve by RO 4.6 million.

Accordingly, the legal formalities associated with the restructuring have been completed subsequent to the
period end. The impact of restructuring on the Company has been described in note 4.1 and 4.2.

It also requires disclosure of newly defined management-defined performance measures, subtotals of income
and expenses, and includes new requirements for aggregation and disaggregation of financial information
based on the identified ‘roles’ of the primary financial statements (PFS) and the notes.

In addition, narrow-scope amendments have been made to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, which include
changing the starting point for determining cash flows from operations under the indirect method, from ‘profit or
loss’ to ‘operating profit or loss’ and removing the optionality around classification of cash flows from dividends
and interest. In addition, there are consequential amendments to several other standards.
IFRS 18, and the amendments to the other standards, is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027, but earlier application is permitted and must be disclosed. IFRS 18 will apply retrospectively.

The Company is currently working to identify all impacts the amendments will have on the primary financial

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statement
In April 2024, the IASB issued IFRS 18, which replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. IFRS 18
introduces new requirements for presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and
A102 subtotals. Furthermore, entities are required to classify all income and expenses within the statement of
profit or loss into one of five categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued
operations, whereof the first three are new.
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At 31 December 2024

RURAL AREAS ELECTRICITY COMPANY SAOC

4 RESTRUCTURING OF BUSINESS (CONTINUED)

4.1 Discontinued operations and disposal group held for distribution

31 May 2023
RO’000

Distribution
Revenue 5,055
Operating costs (2,587)
General and administrative expenses (2,545)
Finance costs (493)
Loss before tax from discontinued operations (570)
Tax expense (1,481)
(Loss)/profit from discontinued operations (2,051)

31 May 2023
RO’000

Supply
Revenue                             1,162
Operating costs                              (275)
General and administrative expenses                           (1,427)
Finance costs                                 (58)
profit before tax from discontinued operations                              (598)
Tax credit/(expense)                                105
(Loss)/profit from discontinued operations                              (493)

The results of the Company's distribution and supply business for the period are presented below:

The results of the Company's distribution and supply business for the period are presented below:

The distribution and supply business effective from 1 June 2023 have been transferred out of the Company.
Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of distribution and supply companies in Oman, with the exception of the
Dhofar Governorate at 1 June 2023 (date of transfer), have been transferred to NEDC and NESC respectively.

The distribution and supply businesses were classified as a disposal groups held for distribution and as a
discontinued operations with effect from 7 May 2023. The carrying values of the identifiable assets and liabilities
of these distribution companies as at the date of transfer were as follows:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2024

RURAL AREAS ELECTRICITY COMPANY SAOC

4 RESTRUCTURING OF BUSINESS (CONTINUED)

4.1 Discontinued operations and disposal group held for distribution

Cash flow
The net cash flows pertaining to distribution and supply businesses are analysed as below:

31 May 2023
RO’000

Distribution
Operating activities                      (16,370)
Investing activities                        (2,475)
Financing activities                        18,631
Net cash outflow                           (214)

Supply
Operating                        50,316
Investing                           (166)
Financing                      (50,908)
Net cash outflow                           (758)

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Revenue recognition

Estimates and judgments are continuously evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The areas
requiring a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to the financial statements are set out below

Due to the nature of the business, a certain portion of the Company’s revenue is estimated rather than based on
actual billing. Detailed computations were made on the basis of pre-determined billing patterns and unit usage
related criteria in order to arrive at the estimated revenue from those customers where the Company is unable
to obtain meter readings and differential days’ revenue estimation for those customers billed before year end. If
the actual meter readings for such customers differ from the estimates, the Company’s revenue would be
impacted to the extent of such differences.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Company’s
accounting policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.
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RURAL AREAS ELECTRICITY COMPANY SAOC

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets at amortized cost

Provision for inventory obsolescence

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Income taxes

At the reporting date, spares and consumables were RO’6,746 (2023: RO’000 6,798) with provisions for old
and obsolete inventories of RO’6,142 (2023: RO’000 6,071). Any difference between the amounts actually
realised in future periods and the amounts expected will be recognized in the statement of profit or loss and
comprehensive income.

The Company has evaluated the available evidence about future taxable income and other possible sources of
realisation of income tax assets, and the amount recognised has been limited to the amount that, based on
management’s best estimate, is more likely than not to be realised.

Leases – Estimating the incremental borrowing rate
The Company cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore it uses its incremental
borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Company would have to
pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the fund necessary to obtain an asset of a similar
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Company
‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available or when they to reflect
the terms and conditions of the lease. The Company estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market
interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates.

Determining the lease terms
In determining the lease terms, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods
after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or
not terminated).

The Company has the option, under some of its leases to lease the assets for additional terms. The Company
applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the option to renew. That is, it
considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal. After the
commencement date, the Company reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in
circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise (or not to exercise) the option to renew or
to terminate (e.g., a change in business strategy, construction of significant leasehold improvements or
significant customization to the leased asset).

The impairment provisions for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Company uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the Company’s past history, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. The impairment provision is assessed based on the
“Expected Credit Loss” model under IFRS 9, the impairment impact is considered to be immaterial.

Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value. When inventories become old or obsolete, an
estimate is made of their net realisable value. For individually significant amounts this estimation is performed
on an individual basis. Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are old or obsolete, are
assessed collectively and a provision applied according to the inventory type and the degree of ageing or
obsolescence, based on anticipated selling prices.

The Company's management determines the estimated useful lives of its property, plant and equipment for
calculating depreciation. This estimate is determined after considering the expected usage of the asset or
physical wear and tear. Management reviews the residual value and useful lives annually and future
depreciation charge would be adjusted where the management believes the useful lives differ from previous
estimates.

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of tax regulations and the amount and timing of future
taxable income. Given the wide range of business relationships and nature of existing contractual agreements,
differences arising between the actual results and the assumptions made, or future changes to such
assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to tax income and expense already recorded. The Company
reviews the provision for tax on a regular basis. In determining the provision for tax, laws of particular
jurisdictions (where applicable entity is registered) are taken into account. The management considers the
provision for tax to be a reasonable estimate of potential tax liability after considering the applicable laws and
past experience.

_______________________________________________________________________________________
16

66 67
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At 31 December 2024

RURAL AREAS ELECTRICITY COMPANY SAOC

6 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

6.1 Leases

i)
ii)

Company as a lessee

the Company designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it will be used.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.
However, for the leases of land and buildings in which it is a lessee, the Company has elected not to separate
non-lease components and account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component.

The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-
of-use asset is initially measured at cost which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any
lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located less any lease incentives received.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Company. At inception of a contract the Company assesses whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is or contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset the Company assesses whether:

a) the contract involves the use of an identified asset - this may be specified explicitly or implicitly and
should be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically distinct asset. If
the supplier has a substantive substitution right, then the asset is not identified;

b) the Company has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset
throughout the period of use; and

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight line method from the commencement date
to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated
useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In
addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses if any and adjusted for certain re
measurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Company's incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company uses its incremental borrowing
rate as the discount rate.

c) the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset. The Company has this right when it has the
decision-making rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset is used.
In rare cases where the decision about how and for what purpose the asset is used is predetermined,
the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset if either:
the Company has the right to operate the asset; or

The accounting policies applied in these financial statements are the same as those applied in the Company’s
financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company leases various properties, offices and vehicles. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed
periods of 2-50 years but may have extension options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
except for use for specific purposes, but leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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6 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

6.1 Leases (continued)

Company as a lessee (continued)

i)
ii)

iii)

Assets Years
1 - 5
1 - 9
1 - 5

Lease liabilities

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

Company as a lessor

Leased vehicles

At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognises lease liabilities measured at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable (if any). The lease payments also include the
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising the option to
terminate.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments.

The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It
also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases that are considered to be low value.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

The Company has not entered into any agreement in which it is acting as a lessor.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when
there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate if there is a change in the
Company's estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee or if the Company
changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase extension or termination option.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero. The Company presents right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in separately in the statement of
financial position.

The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

The principal estimated remaining useful lives used for this purpose are:

Building Rent
Usufruct land

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date;
amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and the exercise price under a
purchase option that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in an optional
renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for
early termination of a lease unless the Company is reasonably certain not to terminate early.
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6 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

6.2 Foreign currency

6.3 Financial Instruments

1) Trade and other receivables
2) Cash and cash equivalents
3) Amounts due from related parties
4) Short term borrowings
5) Trade and other payables
6) Lease Legalities

Initial recognition
Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost

i)
ii)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Equity instruments which are not held for trading or issued as contingent consideration in business combination,
and for which the Company has made an irrevocable election at initial recognition to recognise changes in fair
value through other comprehensive income rather than profit or loss. This election is made on an investment-by-
investment basis.

Debt instruments where the contractual cash flows are solely principal and interest and the objective of the
Company’s business model is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets.

Items included in the Company’s financial statements are measured using Rials Omani which is the currency of
the Sultanate of Oman, being the economic environment in which the Company operates (the functional
currency). The financial statements are prepared in Rials Omani, rounded to the nearest thousand.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the transaction date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at reporting date, exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss. At the end of each reporting period, monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments has principle-based requirements for the classification of financial assets. The
standard contains two primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortised cost and fair value. The
classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally based on the business model in which the financial
asset is managed and contractual cash flows characteristics. Under IFRS 9, derivatives embedded in contracts
where the host is a financial asset in the scope of the standard are never separated. Instead, the hybrid
financial instrument as a whole is assessed for classification.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. The principal financial instruments used by the Company, from which financial
instrument risk arises, are as follows:

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost; fair value through other
comprehensive income – debt instruments; fair value through other comprehensive income – equity
instruments; or fair value through profit or loss account.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated
as at fair value through profit or loss account:
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6 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

6.3 Financial Instruments (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss account

Financial liabilities

i)

ii)

iii)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets
Financial assets carried at amortised cost

Financial assets carried at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

i) Debt instruments at FVTOCI

(ii) Equity instruments at FVTOCI

(iii) Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amortised
cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in the profit or loss account. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in the profit or loss
account.

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using the effective
interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in the profit or loss
account. Other net gains and losses are recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income.
On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in the statement of other comprehensive income are
reclassified to the profit or loss account.

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in the profit
or loss account unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Other net gains and losses are recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income and are
never reclassified to the profit or loss account.
The Company has no equity instruments at FVTOCI.

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or
dividend income, are recognised in the profit or loss account.

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or fair value through profit or loss account. A
financial liability is classified as at fair value through profit or loss account if it is classified as held-for-trading, it
is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition.
Financial liabilities, at initial recognition, may be designated at fair value through profit or loss if the following
criteria are met:

The designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise
from measuring the liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on a different basis;
The liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities which are managed and their performance
evaluated on fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management strategy; or
The financial liability contains an embedded derivative that would otherwise need to be separately
recorded.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss account are measured at fair value and net gains and
losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in the profit or loss account.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income as described above are measured at fair value through profit or loss account.

Financial assets, at initial recognition, may be designated at fair value through profit or loss, if the designation
eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise from measuring the
assets or recognizing gains or losses on them on a different basis.
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6 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

6.3 Financial Instruments (continued)
Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

Reclassification
Financial assets

Financial liabilities

Modification
Financial assets

Financial liabilities

The Company only reclassifies financial assets if, and only if, the objective of the business model for managing
those financial assets is changed. Such changes are expected to be very infrequent as these changes must be
significant to the Company’s operations and demonstrable to external parties.

If the Company determines that its business model has changed in a way that is significant to its operations,
then it reclassifies all affected assets prospectively from the first day of the next reporting period (the
reclassification date). Prior periods are not restated.

The Company determines the classification of financial liabilities on initial recognition. Subsequent
reclassification is not allowed.

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Company evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified
asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash
flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is
derecognised, and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value.

If the cash flows of the modified asset carried at amortised cost are not substantially different, then the
modification does not result in derecognition of the financial asset. In this case, the Company recalculates the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset and recognises the amount arising from adjusting the gross
carrying amount as a modification gain or loss in the profit or loss account.

If the terms of a financial liability are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially
different then, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and the new financial liability with modified
terms is recognised in the profit or loss account.

The Company designates a financial liability as measured at FVTPL when it meets the definition of held for
trading or when they are designated as such on initial recognition using the fair value option.

Gains and losses on financial liabilities designated as at FVTPL are split into the amount of change in fair value
attributable to changes in credit risk of the liability, presented in other comprehensive income, and the remaining
amount in profit or loss.

The Company recognises the full amount of change in the fair value in profit or loss only if the presentation of
changes in the liability's credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in profit or loss. That determination is made at initial recognition and is not reassessed.

Cumulative gains or losses presented in other comprehensive income is subsequently transferred within equity.

Financial liabilities not held at FVTPL are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

The Company’s financial liabilities include accounts payable. due to related parties, fair value of derivatives,
short term borrowings and term loans. Except for fair value of derivatives which is measured at fair value, all
other financial liabilities of the Company are measured at amortised cost.

The Company categorises its financial liabilities into two measurement categories: FVTPL and amortised cost.
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6 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

6.3 Financial Instruments (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets.

i) The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
ii)

iii)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

Impairment of financial assets

i) Financial assets measured at amortised cost,
ii) Debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income;
iii) Lease receivables in the scope of IFRS 16;
iv) Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments in the scope of IFRS 9;
iii) Contract assets (as defined in IFRS 15)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could
be required to repay.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expired.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the profit or loss account.

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with a forward-looking "expected credit loss" ("ECL") model.
This requires considerable judgement about how changes in economic factors affect expected credit losses,
which will be determined on a probability-weighted basis.

IFRS 9 defines expected credit losses as the weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of a
default occurring as the weightings.

The Company recognizes loss allowances for ECLs on the following instruments that are not measured at fair
value through profit or loss:

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when:

The Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but assumes an obligation to pay
them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or
The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying
amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognized) and the sum of (i) the consideration received
(including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had
been recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income is recognised in the profit or loss account.
Any cumulative gain/loss recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income in respect of equity
instrument designated as fair value through other comprehensive is not recognised in the profit or loss account
on derecognition of such instrument. Any interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition
that is created or retained by the Company is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor
transferred control of the asset, the Company continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Company’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Company also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that
the Company has retained.
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6 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

6.3 Financial Instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

i)

ii)

i)
ii)
iii)

iv)
v)

Lifetime expected credit losses

The term 'significant increase in credit risk' is not defined in IFRS 9. An entity decides how to define it in the
context of its specific types of instruments. An entity assesses at each reporting date whether the credit risk on
a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. To make the assessment, an entity
considers changes in the risk of default instead of changes in the amount of expected credit losses.

Loss allowances for trade and other receivables, contract assets and lease receivable without significant
financing are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss.

IFRS 9 does not define the term ‘default’, but instead requires each entity to do so. The definition has to be
consistent with that used for internal credit risk management purposes for the relevant financial instrument, and
has to consider qualitative indicators – e.g. breaches of covenants – when appropriate

The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when the counter party is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Company in full (based on indicator above), without recourse by the Company to actions such
as realizing security (if any is held); or the financial asset is more than the days past due.

These losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over the expected life of
a financial instrument, if there is significant increase in credit risk or under simplified approach 12-month
expected credit losses: These losses are the portion of expected credit losses that result from default events
that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating expected credit losses is the maximum contractual period
over which the Company is exposed to credit risk. An asset is credit-impaired if one or more events have
actually occurred and have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.

The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has significantly increased since initial
recognition and while estimating expected credit loss, when there is objective evidence or indicator for the
financial assets. Examples of such indicators include:

Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
Delinquency by borrower;
Restructuring of an amount due to the Company on terms that the Company would not consider
otherwise, indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy;
The disappearance of an active market for a security; or
If it past due for more than 30 days.

The financial assets at amortized cost consist of trade receivables and cash and cash equivalents. Under IFRS
9, loss allowances are measured on either of the following bases:

12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and
Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument.

The Company has elected to measure loss allowances for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since the initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information that is
relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information
and analysis, based on the Company's historical experience and informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the
Company is exposed to credit risk.
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6 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

6.3 Financial Instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date

Presentation of expected credit losses

Write-off

Offsetting of financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

     

     

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Company formally designates and documents the hedge
relationship to which the Company wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and
strategy for undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the
hedged item, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the entity will assess whether the hedging
relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements (including the analysis of sources of hedge
ineffectiveness and how the hedge ratio is determined).

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortized cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount
of the assets and is charged to the statement of profit or loss or the statement of other comprehensive income
as applicable.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Company determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to
comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount is presented in the statement of financial
position when and only when, the Company has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends
either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the obligation simultaneously.

The Company uses derivative financial instruments as trading investments to hedge its risks associated with
interest rate, foreign currency, commodity price fluctuations and also to satisfy the requirements of its
customers. Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when
the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Hedges of the exposure to changes in fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments
(fair value hedge); or
Hedges of highly probable future cash flows attributable to a recognised asset or liability, or a
forecasted transaction (cash flow hedge).

An entity assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk at each reporting date. The
impairment model in IFRS 9 is symmetrical, and assets can move into and out of the lifetime expected credit
losses category.

To be 'significant', a larger absolute increase in the risk of default is required for an asset with a higher risk of
default on initial recognition than for an asset with a lower risk of default on initial recognition.

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.

Measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the
Company in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive).

Measured as the difference between the gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. Any adjustment is recognised in the profit
or loss account as an impairment gain or loss.
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6 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

6.3 Financial Instruments (continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

     

     

     

Effectiveness testing, rebalancing and discontinuation

The Company discontinues hedge accounting prospectively only when the hedging relationship (or a part of a
hedging relationship) ceases to meet the qualifying criteria (after any rebalancing). This includes instances
when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised.

The Company adjusts the cash flow hedge reserve in equity to the lower of the following:

a.     the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument from inception of the hedge; and
b.     the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item from inception of the hedge.

The Company performs prospective assessment of effectiveness of its cash flow hedges at each reporting date.
The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is
recognised in other comprehensive income and any remaining gain or loss is hedge ineffectiveness which is
recognised in profit or loss.

When the Company discontinues hedge accounting for a cash flow hedge, the amount that has been
accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve remains in equity if the hedged future cash flows are still expected
to occur, until such cash flows occur. If the hedged future cash flows are no longer expected to occur, that
amount is immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the
risk management objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Company adjusts the
hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the qualifying criteria again.

A hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting only if all of the following criteria are met:

There is ‘an economic relationship’ between the hedged item and the hedging instrument.
The effect of credit risk does not ‘dominate the value changes’ that result from that economic
relationship; and
The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of hedged
item that the entity actually hedges and the quantity of hedged item.

As part of risk management strategies, the Company uses derivative financial instruments, such as interest rate
swaps, to hedge interest rate sensitivities. These derivative financial instruments qualify for hedge accounting
and are designated as cash flow hedges. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair
value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair
value is negative.
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6.4 Property, plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement

Subsequent expenditure

Depreciation

Years
Buildings on leasehold land 30
Diesel generators 15 - 30
Renewable generators 25
Other plant and machinery 20 - 40
Furniture, fixtures and vehicles 5 – 7
Plant spares 20

Capital work in progress

Capital spares
Cost of capital Spares includes all expenditure directly attributable to the acquisition of capital spares.

The management assigns useful lives and residual values to the items of property, plant and equipment based
on intended use of the assets and the expected economic lives of those assets. Subsequent changes in
circumstances such as technological advances or prospective utilisation of the assets concerned could result in
the actual lives or residual values differing from the initial estimates. The management has reviewed the
residual values and useful lives of the major items of property, plant and equipment and have determined that
no adjustment is necessary. The estimated useful lives for current and comparative periods are as follows:

Capital work in progress is measured at cost and is not depreciated until it is transferred into one of the fixed
asset categories, which occurs when the asset is ready for intended use.

Capital spares shall be recognised in the carrying amount of the affected item of property, plant and equipment
when it is put in use. The carrying amount of the replaced item is derecognised. When it is not practical to
determine the carrying amount of the replaced part, the cost of the capital spare may be used as an indication of
what the cost of the replaced part was at the time it was acquired.

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly
attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and
removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and capitalised borrowing costs. Cost also
may include transfers from profit or loss and other comprehensive income of any gain or loss on qualifying cash
flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and the difference is
recognised in the profit and loss and other comprehensive income.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases future economic benefits embodied in the specific
asset to which it relates. All other subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which it
is incurred.

Depreciation is charged to the profit and loss and other comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of the asset less its residual value.
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6.5 Intangible assets
Recognition and measurement

Amortisation

6.6 Inventories

6.7 Cash and cash equivalents

6.8 Trade and other payables

6.9 Employee terminal benefits

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at hand, bank balances and short term deposits with an original
maturity of three months or less.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Interest-bearing liabilities are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing liabilities are stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and
redemption value being recognised in the profit and loss and other comprehensive income over the period of
the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages, salaries and annual leave when
it is probable that settlement will be required, and they are capable of being measured reliably.

Provision for employee benefits is accrued having regard to the requirements of the Oman Labour Law 2003 as
amended or in accordance with the terms and conditions of the employment contract with the employees,
whichever is higher. Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees and
an accrual is made for the estimated liability arising as a result of services rendered by employees up to the
reporting date. These accruals are included in current liabilities, while that relating to end of service benefits is
disclosed as a non-current liability.
In accordance with the provisions of IAS 19, Employee Benefits, management carries out an exercise to assess
the present value of the Company’s obligations as of the reporting date, in respect of employees’ end of service
benefits payable to determine whether it is not materially different from the provision made. Under this method,
an assessment is made of an employee’s expected service period with the Company and the expected basic
salary at the date of leaving the service, discounted over the period of remaining expected period using the
country’s risk-free rate.

Intangible assets represents softwares. These intangible assets are initially recognised at cost and
subsequently remeasured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. Internally
generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and charged to
statement of profit and loss in the period in which the expenditure is incurred.

Intangible assets with finite useful life are amortised over the estimated useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
method is reviewed at each reporting date. Change in expected useful life on the expected pattern of
consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the intangible asset is accounted for by changing the
amortisation period or method, as appropriate and treated as change in accounting estimate and accordingly
accounted for prospectively. The amortisation charge is recognised in the profit and loss in the expense
category consistent with the function of intangible asset.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs comprise purchase costs and where
applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Cost is calculated principally using the weighted average method. An allowance
is made for slow moving and obsolete inventory items where necessary, based on management’s assessment.
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6.10 Provisions

6.11 Borrowing costs

6.12 Impairment
Non-derivative financial assets

Non-financial assets

The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less cost
to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the cash generating unit.

The management determines whether there are any indications of impairment to carrying value of property,
plant and equipment on an annual basis because of the difference between the duration of the contracted cash
flows and accounting deprecation of assets. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash
generating unit. Estimating the value in use requires the Company to make an estimate of the residual value of
the cash generating unit at the end of the term of the PPA considering the expected future cash flows for the
period beyond the term of the PPA and also a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the assets’ carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation if no impairment loss had
been recognised.

Provisions are recognized in the statement of financial position when the Company has a legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that it will result in an outflow of economic benefit that
can be reliably estimated.
The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows. Where some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are
expected to be recovered from third party, the receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Interest expense and similar charges are expensed in the profit and loss and other comprehensive income in
the period in which they are incurred, except to the extent that they are capitalised as being directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of
time to prepare for its intended use or sale. Finance income is recognised as it accrues in the statement of profit
and loss and other comprehensive income.

A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had
a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. An impairment loss in respect of a financial
asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount, and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are
assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics. All impairment losses are
recognised in the income statement. An impairment loss is reversed if reversal can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost, the
reversal is recognised in the profit and loss and other comprehensive income.

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such
indication exists, the assets’ recoverable amounts are estimated. An impairment loss is recognised whenever
the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
are recognised in the profit and loss and other comprehensive income unless it reverses a previous revaluation
that was credited to equity, in which case it is charged to equity.
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6.13 Current versus non-current classification

An asset is current when it is:
•
•
•

•

A liability is current when:
•
•
•

•

6.14 Government grants

6.15 Revenue from contracts with customers
The Company recognises revenue from contracts with customers based on the five step model:

Step 1 Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2 Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Step 3 Determine the transaction price

Step 4 Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

Step 5 Recognise revenue

i)

ii)

iii) The Company's performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Company and the
Company has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

For a contract that has more than one performance obligation, the Company will allocate the transaction price to
each performance obligation in an amount that depicts the consideration to which the Company expects to be
entitled in exchange for satisfying each performance obligation.

When (or as) the Company satisfies a performance obligation.

The Company satisfies a performance obligation and recognises revenue over time, if one of the following
criteria is met:

The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Company's
performance as and when the Company performs; or
The Company's performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting period

Grants from the Government are recognised at their value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received, and the Company will comply with all the attached conditions. Government grants relating to
the costs are deferred and recognised in the statement of profit and loss over the period necessary to match
them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the construction of assets are included in deferred revenue as 'funding from
Government sponsored projects' within non-current liabilities and are credited to profit and loss on straight line
basis over the expected useful life of the related assets.

A contract is defined as an agreement between two or more parties that creates enforceable rights and
obligations and sets out the criteria for every contract that must be met.

A performance obligation is a unit of account and a promise in a contract with a customer to transfer a good or
service to the customer.

Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or
Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least
twelve months after the reporting period.

It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle
It is held primarily for the purpose of trading
It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or

The Company presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/non-current
classification.

Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle
Held primarily for the purpose of trading
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6.15 Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Revenue from supply of electricity

Revenue from sale of electricity

Government sponsored projects

Variable consideration

Significant financing component

Revenue represents fair value of income receivable in the ordinary course of business from the sale of
electricity to a related party.
Total revenue in excess / (deficit) of the maximum allowed by the regulatory formula in accordance with the
licensing requirements is deferred / recognised and is shown as other payables / other receivables.

Contract modification
A contract modification occurs when the Company and the customer approve a change in the contract that
either creates new enforceable rights and obligations or changes the existing enforceable rights and obligations.
Revenue related to a modification is not recognised until it is approved. Approval can be in writing, oral, or
implied by customary business practices.

The Company treats the contract modification as a separate contract if it results in the addition of a separate
performance obligation and the price reflects the standalone selling price of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, a modification (including those that only affect the transaction price) is accounted for as an
adjustment to the original contract, either prospectively or through a cumulative catch-up adjustment.

The Company accounts for a modification prospectively if the goods or services in the modification are distinct
from those transferred before the modification. Conversely, the Company accounts for a modification through a
cumulative catch-up adjustment if the goods or services in the modification are not distinct and are part of a
single performance obligation that is only partially satisfied when the contract is modified.

It represents the funds received from the Government for the construction of assets for the benefit of public at
large or specific Government authorities. These funds are deferred and recognised as revenue over the period
of the useful life of the assets.

Variable consideration amounts are estimated at either their expected value or most likely amount and included
in revenue to the extent that it is highly probable that the revenue will not reverse.

The Company evaluates significant financing component, if the period between customer payment and the
transfer of goods/ services (both for advance payments or payments in arrears) is more than one year. The
Company adjusts the promised amount of consideration for the time value of money using an appropriate
interest rate reflecting the credit risk.

For performance obligations where none of the above conditions are met, revenue is recognised at the point in
time at which the performance obligation is satisfied.

Revenue represents fair value of income receivable from supply of electricity, in the ordinary course of business,
to the Government and private customers within the Company's operating area, including the estimated unbilled
revenue during the period from the last billing date to the end of reporting period. The estimate is made using
historical consumption patterns and included in trade receivables in these financial statements.
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6 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

6.15 Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Cost of obtainment and fulfilment

i)
ii)
iii)

6.16 Income tax

6.17 Dividends

6.18 Directors' sitting fees and remuneration

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.
Deferred tax is calculated on the basis of the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is
realised, or the liability is settled based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the reporting date. The tax effects on the temporary differences are disclosed under non-current
liabilities as deferred tax.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on
different taxable entities, but they intend to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis or their tax
assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax the Company takes into account the impact of uncertain
tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The Company believes that its accruals for
tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, including
interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may
involve a series of judgments about future events. New information may become available that causes the
Parent Company to change its judgment regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax
liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made.

The Board of Directors takes into account appropriate parameters including the requirements of the Commercial
Companies Law while recommending the dividend. Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised when they are
approved for payment.

Directors' sitting fees and remuneration are approved by the shareholders in the ordinary annual general
meeting of the Company and are recognised as an expense in the profit and loss and other comprehensive
income.

Generate or enhance resources that will be used to satisfy performance obligations in the future; and
Are expected to be recovered.

If the costs incurred to fulfil a contract are in the scope of other guidance, then Company accounts for such
costs using the other guidance.

The Company amortises the asset recognised for the costs to obtain and/or fulfil a contract on a systematic
basis, consistent with the pattern of transfer of the good or service to which the asset relates. In the case of an
impairment, the Company recognises these losses to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset exceeds
the recoverable amount.

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred taxation. Income tax is recognised
in the profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or other
comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantially enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

The Company capitalises incremental costs to obtain a contract with a customer except if the amortisation
period for such costs is less than one year. If the costs incurred in fulfilling a contract with a customer are not in
the scope of other guidance - e.g. inventory, intangibles, or property, plant and equipment - then the Company
recognises an asset only if the fulfilment costs meet the following criteria:

Relate directly to an existing contract or specific anticipated contract;
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6.19 Measurement of fair values

Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs. This category includes instruments valued using
quoted market prices in the active market for similar instruments, quoted market prices for identical or similar
instruments in markets that are considered less than active, or other valuation techniques where all significant
inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes instruments that are
valued based on quoted prices of similar instruments where significant unobservable adjustments or
assumptions are required to reflect differences between the instruments. "

As at 31 December 2021 the Company held interest rate swap derivatives instruments measured at fair value.
The fair values of the interest swaps arrangements are determined using level 2 valuation technique. On 21
December 2022 the company terminated the hedge along with the term loan.

"Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Company takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these separate financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for leasing transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 16.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorized into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument.

_______________________________________________________________________________________
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2024

7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

7.1
7.2

2024 2023
RO’000 RO’000

Operating costs (note 23)                   7,296         8,019
General and administration expenses (note 25)                        55              40
Pertaining to discontinued operations (note 4)                         -         1,914

                  7,351         9,973

8 INTANGIBLES
2024 2023

 RO’000  RO’000
Cost
At 1 January                         -         2,018
Addition                         -               -
Distributed to shareholders (note 4)                         -        (2,018)
At 31 December                         -               -
Accumulated amortization
At 1 January                         -         1,955
Charge for the year                         -              25
Distributed to shareholders (note 4)        (1,980)
At 31 December                         -               -
Carrying value
At 31 December                         -               -

9 INVENTORIES
2024 2023

RO’000  RO’000

Spares                   6,746 6,798
Fuel                   2,153 2,412

                  8,899 9,210
Provision for inventories obsolescence (9.1)                  (6,142) (6,071)

2,757 3,139

9.1 Movement in provision for inventories obsolescence
2024 2023

 RO’000  RO’000

At 1 January 6,071 4,623
Charge during the year 71 1448
At 31 December 6,142 6,071

RURAL AREAS ELECTRICITY COMPANY SAOC

The Company’s building and assets are constructed on lands leased from the Ministry of Housing,
Depreciation charge for the year is allocated as follows

___________________________________________________________________________________
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2024

RURAL AREAS ELECTRICITY COMPANY SAOC

10 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2024 2023

 RO’000  RO’000

Amount due from related parties (note 21.3)                 15,805       42,750
Other receivables                        24              27
VAT receivable                   4,667         3,676
K-Factor receivable                 21,950       38,287
Prepayments                      177               -

                42,623       84,740
Provision for expected credit loss (98)             (98)

                42,525       84,642

10.1
2024 2023

 RO’000  RO’000
At 1 January                        98 4,780
Reversal for the year                         - (165)
Distributed to shareholders                         - (4,517)
Related to assets held for sale                         - -
At 31 December                        98              98

11 CASH AND BANK BALANCES
2024 2023

 RO’000  RO’000

Call deposits 39 138
Cash at banks 568 7,246
Cash in hand - -

607 7,384

Bank call deposits carry an interest rate of 0.75% per annum (2023: 0.75%). Cash at banks are with
commercial banks in the Sultanate of Oman and are denominated in Riyal Omani. Bank balances are placed
with reputed financial institutions. Hence, the management believes that the ECL is immaterial to the
financial statements as a whole.

The movement in expected credit losses was as follows
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2024

RURAL AREAS ELECTRICITY COMPANY SAOC

12 SHARE CAPITAL
 Number of

shares
2024

RO
2023

RO

Electricity Holding Company SAOC 495,000 495,000 495,000
Nama Shared Services Company LLC 2,500 2,500 2,500

2,500 2,500 2,500
500,000 500,000 500,000

13 LEGAL RESERVE

14 GENERAL RESERVE

15 DEFERRED REVENUE
15.1 The Break up of deferred revenue is as follows

Current Non-current Total
RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

31 December 2024
Government sponsored projects 3,037 41,970 45,007

3,037 41,970 45,007

31 December 2023
Government sponsored projects 2,402 45,642 48,044

2,402 45,642 48,044

15.2 Movement in deferred revenue
2024 2023

RO’000 RO’000

At 1 January 48,044 85,536
Additions - -
Distributed to shareholders (note 4) - (35,880)
Amortisation related to discontinued operation - 1,425
Amortisation (3,037) (3,037)
At 31 December 45,007 48,044

Government sponsored projects represents funding towards the cost of property, plant and equipment for
the projects started before 1 January 2009. These contributions are deferred and amortised over the life of
the relevant property, plant and equipment.

In accordance with Article 133 of the Commercial Companies Law of 2019, the Company's policy state an
amount not exceeding 20% of the net profit of each financial year after deduction of taxes and transfer to
legal reserve should be transferred annually to a general reserve until the balance of general reserve reach
one half of the share capital. The reserve is available for distribution to the shareholders

Article 132 of the Commercial Companies Law of 2019 requires that 10% of a Company's net profit after
deduction of taxes to be transferred to a non-distributable legal reserve until the amount of the legal reserve
becomes equal to one-third of the Company's fully paid share capital. This reserve is not available for
distribution.

Numo Institute for Competency Development LLC

The shareholders in their meeting held on 7 May 2023, have resolved to reduce the share capital of the
Company by RO 99.5 million, and also to reduce the legal reserve by RO 4.6 million to keep the reserve at
one third of the new reduced share capital. Further, the management has also reduced the general reserve
by RO 8.3 million to keep it at one half of the new reduced share capital in accordance with Article 133 of the
Commercial Companies Law of 2019 and Company's policy. The corresponding impact of reduction in share
capital has been taken to shareholder funds under equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2024

RURAL AREAS ELECTRICITY COMPANY SAOC

16 RIGHT OF USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

16.1 Right-of-use assets
Land Building Vehicles Total

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

At 1 January 2023 1,370 14 362 1,746
Impact of lease reassessment - - (68) (68)
Distributed to shareholders (note 4) (678) - (106) (784)
Depreciation (note 16.4) (30) (7) (43) (80)

At 1 January 2024 662 7 145 814
Depreciation (note 16.1) (30) (1) (43) (74)
At 31 December 2024 632 6 102 740

16.2 Lease Liabilities
The movement in lease liabilities during the years is as follows:

2024 2023
RO’000 RO’000

At 1 January 885 1,891
Interest on lease liabilities (note 26) 38 41
Lease liabilities paid (interest and principal) (109) (111)
Impact of lease reassessment - (68)
Distributed to shareholders (note 4) - (868)
At 31 December 814 885

16.3 Lease liabilities included in the statement of financial position
2024 2023

RO’000 RO’000
Current portion 57 62
Non-current portion 757 823

814 885

16.4

2024 2023
RO’000 RO’000

Interest on lease liabilities (note 26)                        38              41
Depreciation of right of use assets (note 23)                        74              80

                     112 121

17 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

2024 2023 2024 2023
RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

At 1 January 110 418 85 232
Charge for the year - 6 - -
Distributed to shareholders (note 4) - (123) - (147)
Payments during the year (10) (191) - -
At 31 December 100 110 85 85

 Amounts recognised in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income.

The Company has lease contracts for power plant, usufruct charges, building rent and vehicles used in its

Employees' end of service Short term employees'
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2024

RURAL AREAS ELECTRICITY COMPANY SAOC

18 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2024 2023

RO’000 RO’000
Accruals and other payables 22,632 33,191
Trade payables 1,170 5,874
Amount due to related parties (note 21.4) 1,889 12,820
Dividend payable 1,990 2,000
VAT payable 6,352 4,176
Short term employees' benefits (Note 17) - 85

34,033 58,146

19 SHORT TERM BORROWINGS
2024 2023

RO’000 RO’000
At 1 January 54,640 98,840
Additions during the year 20,000 -
Distributed to shareholders (note 4) - (34,200)
Repayment during the year (49,000) (10,000)
At 31 December 25,640 54,640

20 DIVIDENDS

The Company has availed a total facility amount of RO' 000 54,600 from local banks at interest rate ranging
from 3.5% to 4.75% per annum (2023: 3.5% to 6% per annum). At 31 December 2024, the Company has
utilized this Short-term loan to the extent of RO 25.640  million (31 December 2023: RO 000' 54.640).

The Board of Directors of the Company at their meeting held on 21-03-2024 has agreed to approve the
declaration divididend of RO0.1 per share amounting to a total of RO 50,000 Omani rials. Which has been
paid during the year, This dividend is subject to approval by the company's shareholders at the annual
general meeting.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2024

RURAL AREAS ELECTRICITY COMPANY SAOC

21 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

21.1
2024 2023

RO’000 RO’000
Other related parties
Oman Power and Water Procurement Company SAOC:

Sales of electricity 86,919 79,000
Numo Institute for Competency Development LLC:

Training expenses - 53
Shareholders
Electricity Holding Company SAOC:

Dividends 1,990 2,000
 Support service charges 143 697

Nama Shared Services LLC:
IT Support service charges 223 188
Distribution Code Review Panel (DCRP) shared expenses - -

21.2 Key management benefits

2024 2023
RO’000 RO’000

Salaries and other short term benefits - 218
End of service benefits - 24
Directors' remuneration and sitting fees 81 90

81 332

No. of staff included in key management compensation                          5                5

Related parties comprise the shareholders, directors, key management personnel, business entities that
have the ability to control or exercise significant influence over financial and operating decisions of the
Company and entities over which certain shareholders are able to exercise significant influence.
The Government is a related party of the entity as it is the ultimate controlling party. The entity in the ordinary
course of business transacts with other government owned entities. However, in view of the exemption from
disclosure requirements set out in IFRS in relation to related party transactions and outstanding balances
with the Government, that has control or joint control of, or significant influence over the Company and an
entity that is a related party of the same government, the Company has applied the exemptions in IAS 24,
related to government entities and only disclosed certain information to meet the disclosure requirements of
IAS 24. The Company maintains balances with the related parties which arise in the normal course of
business. The related party transactions are carried out based on mutually agreed terms. Outstanding
balances at period end are unsecured and settlement occurs in cash.

Key management personnel are those persons who have authority and responsibility for planning, directing,

Prices and terms of these transactions, which are entered into in the normal course of business, are on
mutually agreed terms and conditions.

The Company had the following transactions in the statement of profit or loss with related parties
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2024

RURAL AREAS ELECTRICITY COMPANY SAOC

21 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (continued)

21.3 Amounts due from related parties (note 10) 2024 2023
RO’000 RO’000

Entities under common control
Oman Power and Water Procurement Company SAOC                 14,683 26,913
Nama Electricity Supply Company (NESC)                   1,122 15,837

                15,805 42,750

21.4 Amounts due to related parties (note 18)
2024 2023

RO’000 RO’000
Shareholders:

Electricity Holding Company SAOC                      729 697
Nama Shared Services (NSS)                         - 188
Numo Institute for Competency Development (NICD)                          4 53

entities under common control
Nama Electricity Supply Company (NESC)                   1,156 11,882

                  1,889 12,820
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2024

22 REVENUE
2024 2023

RO’000 RO’000
Point in time
Electricity generation revenue        82,031        79,007
Harweel windplant revenue          4,888          4,571

      (16,336)          3,033
       70,583        86,611

Over the period of time:
Government sponsored projects          3,037          3,037

       73,620        89,648

23 OPERATING COSTS
2024 2023

RO’000 RO’000
Fuel consumption        36,536        45,564
Electricity purchases        12,345        17,995
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (note 7.2)          7,296          8,019
Operation and maintenance contract fee          6,657          5,997
Maintenance and repairs expenses             571               45
Depreciation on right of use asset               74               80
Spares and consumable expenses             740          1,074
Other direct costs          2,352          2,309

       66,571        81,083

24 OTHER INCOME
2024 2023

RO’000 RO’000
Miscellaneous income                 8               77
Sale of forms and tenders               58             641
Sale of scrap                -               61

              66             779

25 GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
2024 2023

RO’000 RO’000
Employees' costs (note 25.1)          1,470 1,659
Service expenses          1,376 2,268
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (note 7.2)               55 40
Directors’ remuneration and sitting fees (note 21.2)               81 90
Other expenses             326 1,071

         3,308          5,128

25.1 Employees' costs
Wages and salaries          1,069 1,872
Allowances and benefits             401 (219)
Employees end of service benefits (note 22)                - 6

1,470          1,659

RURAL AREAS ELECTRICITY COMPANY SAOC

(Less)/add: revenue (in excess of)/shortfall in Maximum Allowed Revenue
as per the Price Control Formula
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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RURAL AREAS ELECTRICITY COMPANY SAOC

26 FINANCE COSTS
2024 2023

RO’000 RO’000
Interest on borrowings          2,165 1,281
Interest on lease liabilities (note 16)               38 41

2,203 1,322

27 TAXATION
27.1 Tax expense recognised in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income.

2024 2023
RO’000 RO’000

Current tax          1,140 10,215
Deferred tax - charged to profit & loss         (1,230) (9,864)
Current and deferred tax related to continued operations (90) 351
Current and deferred tax related to discontinued operations (note 4) - 1,376

(90) 1,727

27.2 Reconciliation of income tax expense

2024 2023
RO’000 RO’000

Profit before tax (continued and discontinued operations)          1,484          1,891

Income tax as per applicable tax rate             223             284
Tax impact on non-deductible expenses                -                -
Deferred tax on assets transferred                - 216
Deferred tax relating to prior year            (313) 120
Unrecognized deferred tax on tax losses                -          1,107
Tax charge for the year - Profit and loss              (90)          1,727

27.3 Movement in current tax and deferred tax payable during the year was as follows

2024 2023 2024 2023
RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

At 1 January 12,003 412 11,528 21,392
Charge to profit and loss 1,140 11,591 (1,230) (9,864)
Paid during the year (1,668) - -
At 31 December 11,475 12,003 10,298 11,528

The Company is subject to income tax at the rate of 15% (2023:15%) of taxable income in accordance
with the Income Tax Law of the Sultanate of Oman. The deferred tax on all temporary differences have
been calculated and dealt with in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income.

The following is a reconciliation of income tax on the accounting profit with the tax expenses at the

The Company's effective tax rate for the year ended 31 December 2024 is 0.0% (31 December 2023:
6.9%).

Current tax Deferred tax
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27 TAXATION (CONTINUED)

27.4 Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

2024 2023
RO’000 RO’000

Accelerated depreciation        11,454        12,361
Allowance for expected credit losses                -                -
Provision for inventories obsolescence            (921)            (592)
Usufruct charges              (11) (17)
IFRS 15 adjustment            (188)            (188)
Provision for legal cases              (36)              (36)
Other adjustments                -                -

10,298 11,528
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28 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

2024 2023
RO’000 RO’000

Term loans - -
Lease liabilities 814 885
Short term borrowings 25,640 54,640
Trade and other payables 34,033 58,146
Less: cash and bank balances (607) (7,384)

59,880 106,287

Equity
Share capital 500 500
Legal reserve 167 167
General reserve 250 250
Retained earnings 43,355 40,301
Shareholders’ fund (12,692) 90,407

31,580 131,625

Equity and net debt 91,460 237,912

Gearing ratio 65% 45%

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2024

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions
and the requirements of the financial covenants. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may
adjust the dividends payment to the shareholders, return capital to the shareholders or issue new share capital.
The Company monitors capital using a gearing ratio which is 'net debt' divided by total capital plus net debt.
The Company's policy is to keep the gearing ratio between 50% to 70%. The Company includes within net
debt, interest bearing term loans and short-term borrowings, trade and other payables, less cash and cash
equivalents.

For the purpose of the Company's capital management, the capital comprise of share capital, reserves and
retained earnings. There was no change in Company's approach to the capital management during the year.
The primary objective of the Company's capital management is to maximise the shareholders' value.
Management is confident of improving the current level of profitability by enhancing top line growth and prudent
cost management.

•     Market risk
•     Credit risk
•     Liquidity risk

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for establishing and overseeing the Company’s risk
management framework. The Board has entrusted the management with the responsibility of developing and
monitoring the Company’s risk management policies and procedures and its compliance with them.

RURAL AREAS ELECTRICITY COMPANY SAOC

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Company's capital management, among other things, aims to
ensure that it meets it financial covenants attached to the interest bearing term loans and borrowings that
defines capital structure requirements. Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the lenders
to immediately call term loans and short term borrowings. There have been no breaches of the financial
covenants of any interest bearing term loans and short term borrowings at current year end.

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Company’s
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Company’s management of
capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements.

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

________________________________________________________________________________________
44

94 95



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2024

RURAL AREAS ELECTRICITY COMPANY SAOC

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

29.1 Market risk

Price risk

Interest rate risk

2024 2023
RO’000 RO’000

Lease liabilities 814 885
Short term borrowings 25,640 54,640

26,454 55,525

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

Foreign currency risk

29.2 Credit risk

Lease liabilities and short term borrowings are carried at fixed exchange rate, accordingly the company is not
exposed to any interest rate risk.

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity
prices will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while
optimising the return.

The Company has borrowings which are interest bearing and exposed to changes in underlying interest rates.
The Company has entered into interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate risk exposure on its term loans
and short-term borrowings.

The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and the
Company does not designate hedging instruments under a fair value hedge accounting model. Therefore, a
change in interest rate at the reporting date would not affect the profit and loss and other comprehensive
income. At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Company’s interest-bearing financial liabilities was:

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the
other party to incur a financial loss. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is indicated by the carrying amount
of its assets, which consist principally of trade accounts receivable, amounts due from related parties,
deposits, other receivable and bank balances.

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of
change in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s functional and presentation currency is Rial Omani and the
Company’s performance is substantially independent of changes in foreign currency rates. Accordingly, the
Company is not exposed to any foreign current risk.

Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
change in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or foreign currency risk), whether those
changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instruments or its issuer, or factors affecting
all similar financial instruments traded in the market. The tariff for distribution of electricity is determined by
long term agreements with customers or under the permitted Tariff Regulations issued by the Authority for
Public Services Regulations (APSR). Accordingly, the Company is not exposed to significant price risk.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

29.2 Credit risk (continued)

2024 2023
RO’000 RO’000

Trade receivables - -
Amounts due from related parties 15,805 42,750
Other receivables 24 27
Government subsidy receivable - -
Cash at bank 568 7,246

16,397 50,023

2024 2023
RO’000 RO’000

Amounts due from related parties         15,805         42,750

Amounts due from related parties

Gross ECL

Past due
but not

impaired Gross ECL

Past due
but not

impaired
RO'000 RO'000 RO'000 RO'000 RO'000 RO'000

Ba 1 15,805 98 15,903 42,435 98 42,533

15,805 98 15,903 42,435 98 42,533

As of 1st of June 2023, the company only sells its products to related party, with the majority of the balance
being to Oman Power and Water Procurement Company. The exposure to credit risk for trade and other
receivables at the reporting date by the type of customer is as follows:

The Company reduces the exposure of credit risk arising from other financial assets by maintaining bank
accounts with reputed banks and providing services only to the creditworthy counter parties. Set out below is
the information about the credit risk exposure on the Company’s due from customers using a provision matrix:

With respect to credit risk arising from the financial assets of the Company, the exposure to credit risk arises
from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments
as follows:

2024 2023
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

29.2 Credit risk (continued)

29.3 Liquidity risk

Carrying
amount

Contractual
cash flow

Less than
3 Months

3 months
to 1 year

More than
1 years

31 December 2024 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000
Non-interest bearing
Trade and other payables 27,681 27,681 18,269 9,412 -

Interest bearing
Short term borrowing 25,640 25,640 8,718 16,922 -
Lease liabilities 814 813 19 37 757

54,135 54,134 27,006 26,371 757

31 December 2023
Non-interest bearing
Trade and other payables 53,970 53,970 35,620 35,620 -

Interest bearing
Short term borrowing 54,640 55,921 817 55,104 -
Lease liabilities 885 2,712 84 250 2,378

109,495 112,603 36,521 90,974 2,378

Fair value hierarchy:

Measurement of fair values

Type

Call deposits and term deposits
Other financial liabilities (level 2)

The management believes that the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities are not significantly different
from their carrying amounts as shown in the financial statements at the reporting date. There were no transfers
between level 1 and level 2 during the year.

Market comparison

Significant
un-observable

inputs

Discounted cash flows

Valuation
technique

Not applicable
Not applicable

The Company accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing for expected credit losses on a timely
basis. In calculating the expected credit loss rates, based on Moody's ratings the Company considers historical
loss rates for each category of debtor and adjusts for forward looking macroeconomic data. Credit risk from
balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the treasury department in accordance with the
Company’s policy. The limits are set to minimize the concentration of risks and therefore mitigate financial loss
through a counterparty’s potential failure to make payments.

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at
significantly different amount.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. The Company limits its liquidity risk by
ensuring that a working capital facility is available, when required.

Liquidity requirements are monitored on a monthly basis and management ensures that sufficient liquid funds
are available to meet any commitments as they arise. The following are the contractual maturities of financial
liabilities, including interest payments:
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30 CLIMATE RELATED RISKS

31 COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain corresponding figures for year ended 31 December 2023 have been reclassified in order to conform to
the presentation for the current year. Such reclassifications do not affect previously reported profit or
shareholder’s equity.

While certain physical risks may be predictable, there are significant uncertainties as to the extent and timing
of their manifestation. For transition risks, uncertainties remain as to the impacts of the impending regulatory
and policy shifts, changes in consumer demands and supply chains. The Company is making progress on
embedding climate risk in its risk framework.

The Company and its customers may face significant climate-related risks in the future. These risks include the
threat of financial loss and adverse non-financial impacts that encompass the political, economic and
environmental responses to climate change. The key sources of climate risks have been identified as physical
and transition risks. Physical risks arise as the result of acute weather events such as hurricanes, floods and
wildfires, and longer-term shifts in climate patterns, such as sustained higher temperatures, heat waves,
droughts and rising sea levels and risks. Transition risks may arise from the adjustments to a net-zero
economy, e.g., changes to laws and regulations, litigation due to failure to mitigate or adapt, and shifts in
supply and demand for certain commodities, products and services due to changes in consumer behavior and
investor demand. These risks are receiving increasing regulatory, political and societal scrutiny, both within the
country and internationally.
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